Biological Conservation 161 (2013) 71-90



Contents lists available at SciVerse ScienceDirect

Biological Conservation

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/biocon





Review

Brave new green world – Consequences of a carbon economy for the conservation of Australian biodiversity



Corey J.A. Bradshaw ^{a,b,*}, David M.J.S. Bowman^c, Nick R. Bond^d, Brett P. Murphy^{e,c}, Andrew D. Moore^f, Damien A. Fordham^a, Richard Thackway^g, Michael J. Lawes^h, Hamish McCallumⁱ, Stephen D. Gregory^a, Ram C. Dalal^j, Matthias M. Boer^k, A. Jasmyn J. Lynch¹, Ross A. Bradstock^m, Barry W. Brook^a, Beverley K. Henryⁿ, Leigh P. Hunt^o, Diana O. Fisher^p, David Hunter^q, Christopher N. Johnson^r, David A. Keith^q, Edward C. Lefroy^s, Trent D. Penman^m, Wayne S. Meyer^a, James R. Thomson^t, Craig M. Thornton^u, Jeremy VanDerWal^v, Richard J. Williams^o, Lucy Keniger^p, Alison Specht^w

^a The Environment Institute and School of Earth and Environmental Sciences, The University of Adelaide, Adelaide, South Australia 5005, Australia

^b South Australian Research and Development Institute, P.O. Box 120, Henley Beach, South Australia 5022, Australia

^c School of Plant Science, University of Tasmania, Private Bag 55, Hobart, Tasmania 7001, Australia

^d Australian Rivers Institute, Griffith University, Nathan, Queensland 4111, Australia

^e School of Botany, The University of Melbourne, Victoria 3010, Australia

^fCSIRO Sustainable Agriculture National Research Flagship & Plant Industry, GPO Box 1600, Canberra, Australian Capital Territory 2601, Australia

^g School of Geography, Planning and Environmental Management, The University of Queensland, Brisbane, Queensland 4072, Australia

h Research Institute for the Environment and Livelihoods, Charles Darwin University, Darwin, Northern Territory 0909, Australia

ⁱ School of Environment, Griffith University, Nathan Campus, 170 Kessels Road, Nathan 4111, Queensland, Australia

¹Queensland Department of Science, Information Technology, Innovation and the Arts, Block B, Level 3 East, 41 Boggo Road, Dutton Park, Queensland 4102, Australia

^k Hawkesbury Institute for the Environment, University of Western Sydney, Locked Bag 1797, Penrith, New South Wales 2751, Australia

¹Institute for Applied Ecology, Faculty of Applied Science, University of Canberra, Canberra, Australian Capital Territory 2601, Australia

^m Centre for Environmental Risk Management of Bushfires, School of Biological Sciences, University of Wollongong, New South Wales 2522, Australia

ⁿ Institute for Sustainable Resources, Queensland University of Technology, Room 318, Level 3, D Block, Gardens Point Campus, 2 George Street, Brisbane, Queensland 4000, Australia ^o CSIRO Sustainable Agriculture National Research Flagship & Ecosystem Sciences, Tropical Ecosystems Research Centre, PMB 44 Winnellie, Northern Territory 0822, Australia

^p The University of Queensland, School of Biological Sciences, Goddard Building (8), St Lucia 4072, Queensland, Australia

^q New South Wales Department of Environment, Climate Change and Water, PO Box 1967, Hurstville, New South Wales 2220, Australia

^r School of Zoology, University of Tasmania, Private Bag 55, Hobart, Tasmania 7001, Australia

^s Centre for Environment, University of Tasmania, Private Bag 141, Hobart, Tasmania 7001, Australia

^t School of Biological Sciences and Australian Centre for Biodiversity, Monash University, Melbourne, Victoria, Australia

^u Natural Resources and Mines, PO Box 1762, Rockhampton, Queensland 4700, Australia

^v Centre for Tropical Biodiversity and Climate Change, James Cook University, Townsville, Queensland 4811, Australia

** Australian Centre for Ecological Analysis and Synthesis, Terrestrial Ecosystem Research Network, The University of Queensland, Queensland 4072, Australia

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 28 August 2012 Received in revised form 11 February 2013 Accepted 19 February 2013

Keywords: Agriculture Carbon sequestration Carbon price Carbon tax Cropping Emissions Feral animals Fire

ABSTRACT

Pricing greenhouse gas emissions is a burgeoning and possibly lucrative financial means for climate change mitigation. Emissions pricing is being used to fund emissions-abatement technologies and to modify land management to improve carbon sequestration and retention. Here we discuss the principal land-management options under existing and realistic future emissions-price legislation in Australia, and examine them with respect to their anticipated direct and indirect effects on biodiversity. The main ways in which emissions price-driven changes to land management can affect biodiversity are through policies and practices for (1) environmental plantings for carbon sequestration, (2) native regrowth, (3) fire management, (4) forestry, (5) agricultural practices (including cropping and grazing), and (6) feral animal control. While most land-management options available to reduce net greenhouse gas emissions offer clear advantages to increase the viability of native biodiversity, we describe several caveats regarding potentially negative outcomes, and outline components that need to be considered if biodiversity is also to benefit from the new carbon economy. Carbon plantings will only have real biodiversity value if they comprise appropriate native tree species and provide suitable habitats and resources for valued fauna. Such plantings also risk severely altering local hydrology and reducing water availability. Management

* Corresponding author at: The Environment Institute and School of Earth and Environmental Sciences, The University of Adelaide, Adelaide, South Australia 5005, Australia. Tel.: +61 8 8313 5842; fax: +61 8 8313 4347.

E-mail address: corey.bradshaw@adelaide.edu.au (C.J.A. Bradshaw).

^{0006-3207/\$ -} see front matter @ 2013 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2013.02.012

Forestry Greenhouse gases Invasive species Livestock Plantings Regrowth Stocking of regrowth post-agricultural abandonment requires setting appropriate baselines and allowing for thinning in certain circumstances, and improvements to forestry rotation lengths would likely increase carbon-retention capacity and biodiversity value. Prescribed burning to reduce the frequency of highintensity wildfires in northern Australia is being used as a tool to increase carbon retention. Fire management in southern Australia is not readily amenable for maximising carbon storage potential, but will become increasingly important for biodiversity conservation as the climate warms. Carbon price-based modifications to agriculture that would benefit biodiversity include reductions in tillage frequency and livestock densities, reductions in fertiliser use, and retention and regeneration of native shrubs; however, anticipated shifts to exotic perennial grass species such as buffel grass and kikuyu could have net negative implications for native biodiversity. Finally, it is unlikely that major reductions in greenhouse gas emissions arising from feral animal control are possible, even though reduced densities of feral herbivores will benefit Australian biodiversity greatly.

© 2013 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

Contents

| 1. | Introduction | 72 | |
|------------------------------------|---|----|--|
| 2. Policy setting | | | |
| 3. Environmental plantings | | | |
| | 3.1. Anticipated changes under carbon-price legislation | 76 | |
| | 3.2. Making sure plantings work for biodiversity | 76 | |
| | 3.2.1. Potential benefits | 76 | |
| | 3.2.2. Potential negative effects | 77 | |
| 4. | Regrowth | 77 | |
| | 4.1. How regrowth management will change under carbon pricing | 78 | |
| | 4.2. Regrowth benefits for biodiversity | 79 | |
| 5. | Fire management | 79 | |
| | 5.1. Anticipated fire regime changes under carbon-price legislation | 80 | |
| | 5.2. Implications for biodiversity | 80 | |
| | 5.3. Improving fire-managed carbon for biodiversity | 80 | |
| 6. | Forestry | 81 | |
| | 6.1. Anticipated forestry changes under carbon-price legislation | 81 | |
| | 6.2. Improving forestry for biodiversity in a carbon economy | 81 | |
| 7. | Agriculture | 82 | |
| | 7.1. Anticipated changes under carbon-price legislation | 82 | |
| | 7.1.1. Soil management | 82 | |
| | 7.1.2. Changes to agricultural vegetation | 82 | |
| | 7.1.3. Reductions in ruminant numbers | 82 | |
| | 7.2. Implications for biodiversity | 83 | |
| | 7.2.1. Soil management | 83 | |
| | 7.2.2. Changes to agricultural vegetation | 83 | |
| | 7.2.3. Reductions in ruminant numbers | 84 | |
| | 7.2.4. Wider considerations | 84 | |
| 8. | Feral animals | 84 | |
| | 8.1. Changing feral animal management with carbon pricing | 84 | |
| | 8.2. Challenges to reducing emissions and advancing biodiversity conservation | 85 | |
| 9. | Discussion | 85 | |
| | Acknowledgements | 86 | |
| Appendix A. Supplementary material | | | |
| | References | 86 | |
| | | | |

1. Introduction

As world greenhouse gas emissions (see glossary: Table 1) continue to track worst-case projections (Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, 2007), humanity is beginning to implement workable financial mechanisms to abate them. The basic rationale for such mechanisms is to provide industry with incentives via a financial penalty ('carbon pricing') or offset scheme ('carbon credits'), thereby promoting investment practices that reduce emissions, produce 'clean' energy, or increase energy efficiency. A key inclusion within such programs is the recognition for the potential to sequester carbon in soils and vegetation.

Deforestation, particularly the destruction of biodiverse tropical rainforests, is thought to have contributed between 10 and 20% of the anthropogenic CO_2 emissions since the Industrial Revolution (van der Werf et al., 2009). Thus, there should be a good fit between conservation of biodiversity outcomes and carbon storage given that forests are the most carbon-dense ecosystems on Earth (Luyssaert et al., 2008). Indeed, this is the underlying logic of schemes such as Reduced Emissions from Forest Deforestation and Degradation (REDD) in tropical forests (Phelps et al., 2010), which hold well over 60% of the world's species (Bradshaw et al., 2009). However, schemes such as REDD (and its variants, including REDD+; van Oosterzee et al., 2012) are extremely complex to manage and in some geo-political settings, are vulnerable to perverse outcomes, such as clearing of high-diversity native forests to establish forestry plantations (Venter et al., 2010).

While the implications for biodiversity of greenhouse gasabatement schemes have been highlighted generally (Phelps et al., 2010), there have not been any reviews dedicated to the implications for biodiversity in an Australian context. Our overall objective here is to determine to what extent proposed changes to land use and management in Australia following the implementation of a carbon price might affect biodiversity. While our focus is mainly on those landscape transformations that affect forest¹ cover directly, these are not of course the only types of landscape processes that will be affected. The direct effect on forest cover is obvious, but there are many complex interactions and synergies with related components of the landscape that will affect biodiversity persistence, both positively and negatively. We focus on six main areas of policy and management intervention: (1) environmental plantings, (2) policies and practices to deal with native regrowth, (3) forestry management. (4) fire management. (5) agricultural practices (including cropping and grazing), and (6) feral animal control. For each of these aspects, we give a brief background, outline the main changes foreseen following the implementation of Australian emissions-price legislation, and discuss the anticipated positive and negative effects on biodiversity. We identify possible unanticipated negative impacts (Lindenmayer et al., 2012), and how these can be avoided. While our examples are predominantly Australian, the key concepts and recommendations transcend regional focus and are relevant to emissions-mitigation schemes globally.

2. Policy setting

Many countries and regions have already adopted mandatory or voluntary emissions-reduction mechanisms (Fahey et al., 2009), including New Zealand's Emissions Trading Scheme (http://www. climatechange.govt.nz/emissions-trading-scheme), the European Commission's cap-and-trade Emissions Trading Scheme (ec.europa. eu/clima/policies/ets), California's cap-and-trade (www.arb.ca. gov/cc/capandtrade/capandtrade.htm) scheme, the Chicago Climate Exchange (www.theice.com/ccx.jhtml), the U.S. Regional Greenhouse Gas Initiative (www.rggi.org), the Greenhouse Gas Reduction Program and Offset Credit System in Alberta, Canada (carbonoffsetsolutions.climatechangecentral.com), and of course, the Clean Development Mechanism under the Kyoto Protocol (Box 1). Under the Kyoto Protocol (Box 1), the Australian Government has committed to reducing Australia's greenhouse gas emissions by 5-25% from 2000 levels by 2020, depending on the scale of international action, and carbon pricing has recently been imposed under the 'Clean Energy Future' legislation (Commonwealth of Australia, 2011) (www.cleanenergyfuture.gov.au). The legislation incorporates four elements: a carbon price from which agriculture is exempt, promotion of renewable energy, encouragement of energy efficiency and action on the land facilitated through a Land Sector Package. The Land Sector Package includes six measures: Carbon Farming Futures, the Indigenous Carbon Farming Fund, Carbon Farming Skills, the Carbon Farming Initiative (Box 2) Non-Kyoto Carbon Fund, the Biodiversity Fund, and Regional Natural Resource Management (NRM) Planning for Climate Change. As a whole-of-government initiative, the Land Sector package spans multiple government agencies, which creates additional challenges when trying to integrate issues such as biodiversity conservation. A Land Sector Carbon and Biodiversity Board has also been established to advise on implementation of the various measures.

Box 1 The Kyoto Protocol.

The Kyoto Protocol (http://unfccc.int/kyoto_protocol/items/ 2830.php) is an international agreement established in 1997 under the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC) in Kyoto, Japan. The Protocol sets binding targets for signatory industrialised countries and the European community to reduce greenhouse gas emissions by an average of 5% relative to 1990 output from 2008-2012 (first commitment period).

Australia had refused to be a signatory of the initial agreement, but ratified the Protocol in 2007 upon a change of government, coming into effect in Australia in 2008. During negotiations in Durban, South Africa, in 2011, Parties to the Kyoto Protocol established a second commitment period from 2013. Australia agreed to join the second commitment period covering 2013 to 2020. Forest management will form part of Australia's national accounts in this second commitment period.

Signatory countries must meet their emissions-reduction targets mainly through national measures, but the Protocol offers additional market-based mechanisms to assist in meeting those targets:

- Emissions trading (the 'carbon market'): Commitment targets are expressed as levels of allowed emissions (assigned amounts) that are divided into 'assigned amount units' (AAUs). Emissions trading allows countries with spare AAUs (emissions permitted but not used) to sell this excess capacity to countries that are over their targets.
- Clean development mechanism (CDM): This allows countries to implement an emissions-reduction project in developing countries. Projects can earn saleable certified emission reduction credits (=1 tonne CO₂-e) that can be counted towards Kyoto targets. The CDM is intended to stimulate sustainable development and emission reductions while simultaneously allowing industrialised countries some flexibility in meeting emissions targets.
- Joint implementation (JI): JI allows countries to earn emission reduction units (ERUs) from an emission-reduction or emission-removal project in another participating country (=1 tonne CO₂-e) that can be counted towards Kyoto targets.

Box 2 Australia's Carbon Farming Initiative (CFI).

Passed by Parliament on 23 August 2011, the Carbon Farming Initiative (www.climatechange.gov.au/cfi) provides a financial incentive to land managers and farmers to reduce greenhouse gas emissions from business-asusual activity and/or sequester (store) carbon on land. The CFI is essentially an 'offset' scheme and is part of Australia's emissions trading market. It can be summarised as follows:

 Despite its name, the Carbon Farming Initiative applies both to sequestration of carbon and to avoidance of emissions of carbon dioxide, methane and nitrous oxide.

¹ We define 'forest' very broadly as "an area that is dominated by trees having usually a single stem and a mature or potentially mature stand height >2 m and with existing or potential crown cover of overstorey strata >20%" (see Bradshaw, 2012). Major forest vegetation classes in Australia are shown in Fig. 1.

- Land managers can earn Australian Carbon Credit Units (ACCU) from modified activities that reduce/store carbon, and these can be sold to organisations that are required or choose to offset their emissions. Participation in the CFI is entirely voluntary, but several hundred Australian companies are required to pay to offset their direct emissions.
- 1 ACCU = 1 tonne CO₂-e = AU\$23 (as of 1 July 2012). This price will rise at 2.5% year⁻¹ until 2014/2015 and will be set by the market thereafter.
- Nationally accounted ACCU that are compliant with the Kyoto Protocol (see Box 1) include reforestation, avoided deforestation, reductions in emissions from livestock and manure/fertiliser/waste deposited in landfills before 1 July 2012. Kyoto-compliant ACCU can be traded in international markets.
- Under the Kyoto Protocol (Box 1), certain activities are not included in the national accounting, such as soil carbon, feral animal management, improved forest management and non-forest revegetation – through the CFI, these activities can earn 'non-Kyoto' ACCU.
- The CFI is administered by the Clean Energy Regulator, which is responsible for approving CFI projects, issuing credits and managing the holding, transfer, retirement, relinquishment and cancellation of units through the Registry (an electronic system used to track the issue, trade and retirement of emissions units under the carbon price mechanism).
- Emissions-avoidance projects covered by the CFI include: agricultural emissions, introduced animal emissions and legacy landfill emissions.
- Sequestration-offsets projects covered by the CFI include: sequestering carbon in plants as they grow, increasing soil organic matter, avoided vegetation loss, afforestation, reforestation, revegetation, rangeland restoration and native forest protection.
- To be credited with ACCU, a project must use vetted 'methodologies' to measure and/or predict carbon balance. This includes:
 - a. ensuring abatement is measureable and verifiable,
 - supporting measurement methods by peer-reviewed science that are consistent with Australia's international accounts,
 - c. accounting for leakage and variability,
 - d. using conservative assumptions,
 - e. ensuring additionality,
 - f. establishing permanence, and
 - g. adhering to specific monitoring and reporting requirements (including audits).
- Carbon sequestration or emissions abatement delivered by CFI projects must be additional to what would have been achieved in the absence of the project. ACCU generated by CFI projects must genuinely offset the emissions produced by the buyer.
- Many forestry, agricultural and landfill/waste-treatment methodologies have already been approved under the CFI. As of February 2013, these include: (1) savanna burning, (2) environmental plantings of native species, (3) humaninduced regeneration of a permanent, even-aged native forest, (4) reforestation and afforestation, (5) destruction of methane from manure in piggeries, (6) destruction of methane from piggeries using engineered bio-digesters, (7) destruction of methane generated from dairy manure in

covered anaerobic ponds, (8) avoided emissions from diverting waste from landfill for process-engineered fuel manufacture, (9) capture and combustion of landfill gas, (10) diverting waste to an alternative waste treatment facility and (11) destruction of methane from legacy waste.

- For the methodologies relevant to this review, emissions can be reduced by (1) shifting burning from late to early dry season and reducing the area burnt each year, (2) establishing an environmental planting by seeding or planting native species on cleared land, or permanently maintaining the planting, (3) reforesting cleared land and afforesting land where no forests previously existed, and (4) establishing a forest through cessation of the activities causing suppression or destruction of vegetation regrowth.
- For savanna burning, project owners must (i) develop a vegetation map, (ii) determine the fire history for their area from ten years before project commencement to calculate baselines, (iii) apply the fire management in an area $>1 \text{ km}^2$ with $>1000 \text{ mm yr}^{-1}$ rainfall that contains a class of vegetation specified in the methodology, and (iv) not use cattle to control fire or increase fire outside the project area.
- For native vegetation planting, project owners must (i) plant species native to the local area (mixed or monoculture), (ii) establish permanent plantings on land that was wholly or partially cleared for five years prior to planting (excludes natural forest regeneration/regrowth), (iii) ensure that there is potential for the project to attain at least 20% crown cover and height of 2 m, (iv) not harvest wood products (excluding 10% debris removal per year for personal use), (v) prevent livestock grazing for the first three years after planting, and (vi) avoid 'ripping and mounding' in high rainfall areas in at least 90% of the area.

Agriculture and forestry contribute approximately 18% of Australia's emissions, so the potential for the land sector to contribute to emissions abatement is high. Another government program: the 'Carbon Farming Initiative' (www.climatechange.gov.au/cfi; Box 2) has thus also been established with the aim of reducing greenhouse gas emissions and increasing the sequestration of carbon in biomass and soils. It has been argued that the Initiative does not specifically integrate biodiversity considerations; rather, it employs safeguards to reduce the probability of further damage to biodiversity values (van Oosterzee, 2012). Nonetheless, the potential modifications to the Australian landscape under the Initiative are substantial, with associated broad-scale consequences for biodiversity persistence.

So-called mitigation 'methodologies' – the processes through which carbon credits are created, quantified, bought and sold – are numerous and the subject of ongoing research, validation and implementation, but we do not debate the efficacy of these methodologies here. We therefore assume that any methodologies resulting in landscape transformation conform to existing legislative requirements. These requirements include *inter alia* that sequestration is *permanent* (more specifically, that the carbon-related investment results in sequestration for a minimum of 100 years and this obligation is recorded on the land title), is *additional* (i.e., that the intervention ends up with more carbon sequestered than would have occurred without intervention), and that any unanticipated increase in emissions outside a project's accounting boundary, called *leakage*, is avoided or accounted for (van Oosterzee et al., 2012) (Table 1). To date, only two of the four

| Table 1 | | |
|----------|-----------|--|
| Glossary | of terms. | |

| Term/expression | Definition |
|-----------------------------|--|
| Additionality | For a carbon-sequestration or -abatement project, ensuring that the intervention ends up with more carbon than would have been sequestered without intervention |
| Afforestation | Planting trees in a naturally treeless area |
| Baseline | According to Carbon Farming Initiative methodologies (Box 2), a baseline is a temporal or spatial reference point from which additionality is assessed |
| Bioenergy | Burning forestry by-products and woody wastes to generate electricity |
| Biosequestration | Process of storing carbon from greenhouse gases by photosynthesis |
| CO ₂ -e | The global warming potential that a given type and amount of greenhouse gas causes relative to one unit of carbon dioxide |
| Enteric fermentation | In herbivorous animals, the digestive process involving microorganisms to break down carbohydrates into simple molecules for absorption into the bloodstream; produces methane |
| Environmental plantings | Sequestration of carbon through planting endemic plant species |
| Greenhouse gas | An atmospheric gas that absorbs and emits radiation within the infra-red range, principally water vapour, carbon dioxide, methane, nitrous oxide and ozone |
| Kyoto protocol | An international agreement setting binding targets for 37 industrialised countries and the European community for reducing greenhouse gas emissions (see Box 1) |
| Leakage | For a carbon-sequestration project, the unanticipated increase in emissions outside a project's accounting boundary (in this case, domestic leakage only) |
| Carbon offset | A reduction in the emissions of greenhouse gases to compensate for emissions made elsewhere |
| Offsets integrity standards | Requirements regarding leakage and permanence with which methodologies must conform under the Carbon Farming Initiative Act |
| Permanence | For a carbon-sequestration project, the carbon-related investment must result in sequestration for a sufficient period into the future to account for the carbon being offset by a (carbon-credit) buyer |
| Reforestation | Planting trees in human-cleared treeless areas |
| | |



Fig. 1. Vegetation coverage of Australia derived from the NVIS Major Vegetation Groups identified in the Australian State of the Environment Report 2011, Commonwealth of Australia (2011). States/Territories are shown as follows: New South Wales (NSW), the Northern Territory (NT), Queensland (QLD), South Australia (SA), Tasmania (TAS), Victoria (VIC) and Western Australia (WA).

methodologies conforming to these requirements and approved under the Carbon Farming Initiative (Box 2) are relevant to this review: (1) savanna burning and (2) environmental plantings of native species (see Box 2 for more details on these methodologies); other methodologies discussed here are at various stages of development.

3. Environmental plantings

Recently, many regions of the world have prohibited broadscale forest clearing and are now implementing reforestation initiatives to compensate for historical losses. Ecosystem restoration has traditionally been focused on issues such as biodiversity protection, improvement of soil health and salinity management, but there is an increasing interest in using land and vegetation for carbon sequestration (Hatton et al., 2011).

3.1. Anticipated changes under carbon-price legislation

One of the uses of the funds generated from the Australian carbon price is investment in the sequestration of carbon through tree plantings, variously referred to as 'carbon plantings', 'biodiversity plantings', 'environmental plantings', 'enrichment plantings' or 'carbon forestry' (Eady et al., 2009; Crossman et al., 2011). Here we use the term 'environmental plantings' to include the aforementioned definitions, and note that this excludes commercial plantations. Environmental plantings can include afforestation (planting naturally treeless areas) or reforestation (planting human-cleared areas). Both produce carbon credits tradeable under the Kyoto Protocol (Box 1; Table 1). Carbon sequestered by activities that do not comply with the Kyoto Protocol (Box 1), such as non-forest revegetation with native species, can still be traded in Australia through voluntary carbon markets and will be subsidised through a Carbon Farming Initiative Non-Kyoto Carbon Fund.

In Australia, ~40% of total forest cover has been lost in the last 200 years (Bradshaw, 2012), so environmental plantings have considerable potential to contribute both to forest biodiversity enhancement and carbon sequestration. Total annual sequestration potential in soils and vegetation in Australia is estimated to exceed 1000 Mt CO2-e year-1 for the period 2010–2050 (Eady et al.,2009). Estimates of potential storage in environmental plantings range from ~350 Mt CO2-e year-1 (Eady, 2009; Wentworth Group of Concerned Scientists, 2009) up to ~600 Mt CO2-e year-1 (Burns et al., 2011), while those for forestry (timber plantations) range from ~265 Mt CO2-e year-1 (Burns et al., 2011) up to ~400 Mt CO2-e year-1 (Wentworth Group of Concerned Scientists, 2009). Capturing 15% of this capacity would offset the equivalent of ~25% of Australia's current greenhouse gas emissions over that 40-year period (Wentworth Group of Concerned Scientists, 2009).

Carbon sequestration via environmental plantings is intended to increase net forest cover with native tree species, either as environmental 'woodland' plantings or as native hardwood plantations (see also *Forestry* section below). 'Woodland' plantings involve establishing multiple strata of trees and shrubs, usually of mixed species, but they can also be monocultures of local provenances (Eady et al., 2009). Establishment can be from seedlings, direct seeding, or regeneration from remnant vegetation (see also *Regrowth* section). Because carbon sequestered in vegetation and soils can be released into the atmosphere through fire² or logging, sequestration projects covered by the Carbon Farming Initiative are subject to permanence obligations (Department of Climate Change and Energy Efficiency, 2010b); environmental plantings (apart from woodlots) cannot be harvested for timber.

The carbon price-driven changes to forest cover and composition will have major implications for hydrology in previously forested areas. Rainfall is one of the most important factors limiting plant growth in Australia (Raupach et al., 2001; Roxburgh et al., 2004), and prior to the establishment of a carbon market, timber plantations were considered economically viable only in areas where rainfall exceeds 600 mm year⁻¹ (Zhang et al., 2007). Crossman et al. (2011) have demonstrated the sensitivity of carbon farming profitability (relative to existing land use) to a carbon price in the agricultural areas of southern Australia. Environmental plantings on more agriculturally marginal land became financially viable only at relatively high carbon prices; the percentage of agricultural land area shifting to environmental plantings ranged from <20% at AU\$10 t⁻¹ CO₂-e to \sim 90% at AU\$45 t⁻¹ CO₂-e. Monoculture plantations are predicted to be far more profitable than environmental plantings at intermediate carbon prices (Kapambwe and Keenan, 2009; Crossman et al., 2011). Thus, as the price of carbon increases, carbon farming will potentially expand into more marginal (both in terms of agricultural potential and native forest productivity) and lower-rainfall areas. It is in these areas where the impacts on water yield will be greatest (Zhang et al., 2001).

3.2. Making sure plantings work for biodiversity

3.2.1. Potential benefits

The excessive fragmentation of forested habitats in many parts of Australia is a considerable threat to native biodiversity (Bradshaw, 2012); therefore, increases in the extent of forest cover in human-modified landscapes can be expected to prolong the persistence of forest-dependent species by (1) increasing the area of habitat (Koh et al., 2010), (2) increasing connectivity (Watling et al., 2011), and (3) minimising the edge:core habitat ratio (Laurance and Curran, 2008) via increasing average patch size. The potential benefits of reforestation extend well beyond biodiversity preservation *per se* – many valuable ecosystem services (sensu Costanza et al., 1997) also can be enhanced, including increasing pollination efficiency for higher agricultural yields (Hoehn et al., 2008; Carvalheiro et al., 2011), freshwater purification (Daily, 1997) and flood regulation (Bradshaw et al., 2007b).

As forest habitats become fragmented by human activities, the populations within them are exposed to different threats due to their reduced range and small population size. They are more likely to be driven extinct through stochastic events, such as wildfire or extreme weather (Lande, 1993). Environmental plantings can increase the long-term persistence of populations in fragmented habitats by creating new suitable habitat patches. Whether they are specifically designed as habitat corridors connecting isolated patches, or 'stepping stones' through which mobile species can disperse, environmental plantings can help sustain a species. Just how many populations or species benefit depends on the composition and structure of the species used in the plantings. There is also growing evidence that the composition of intervening ('matrix') habitat separating habitat fragments is an important determinant of the composition and persistence of biodiversity within habitat fragments (Watling et al., 2011). For forest-dependent species, we can efficiently maximise the co-benefits of environmental plantings for biodiversity by locating plantings to reconnect existing patches (Venter et al., 2009).

Benefits are also enhanced by integrating environmental management programs and objectives and increasing their spatial overlap (Fahey et al., 2009). For example, focusing plantings and revegetation efforts around some aquatic systems could enhance both water quality and ecosystem connectivity; simultaneously

² According to the Australian Carbon Farming Initiative: "If carbon is lost because of bushfire, drought, disease or requirements to establish firebreaks, landholders are not required to return credits"; however, "landholders must take reasonable action to ensure that carbon stores are re-established following natural disturbances. Project proponents will not receive credits while the carbon stores are recovering."

aligning efforts to expand habitats and thence viability of threatened species and ecological communities would address another core Australian Government commitment (Wentworth Group of Concerned Scientists, 2008). However, deciding which habitat fragments to reconnect and where to initiate environmental plantings for maximum biodiversity benefit is still a developing field (Beier et al., 2008).

Plantings for carbon sequestration can potentially alter catchment water balances, thereby offsetting the effects of past deforestation such as dryland salinity and high rates of sediment and nutrient export (Jackson et al., 2005; George et al., 2012; Sochacki et al., 2012). Even away from the stream margins, forested areas can enhance aquatic diversity by buffering streams from the effects of climatic variability (Thomson et al., 2012). In their natural condition, riparian habitats are structurally and functionally diverse (Naiman and Decamps, 1997), so the extent of riparian buffers required to restore biodiversity values from replantings is highly variable and the subject of considerable ongoing research (Hansen et al., 2010).

Research on the biodiversity value of commercial and environmental plantings suggests that, in general, the habitat value of revegetation increases with floristic diversity, structural complexity, age of planting, patch area, and proximity to remnant native vegetation (Hartley, 2002; Martínez-Garza and Howe, 2003; Munro et al., 2007; Brockerhoff et al., 2008; Bremer and Farley, 2010). However, there is also considerable variation in benefits between faunal groups in revegetated areas. For example, while revegetated areas provide habitat for many species of bird and some arboreal marsupials, there is little evidence that bats, small terrestrial mammals, reptiles or amphibians benefit from revegetation in the short term (Kavanagh et al., 2005; Munro et al., 2007; Kavanagh et al., 2010; Law et al., 2011). Even among birds, environmental plantings are often used mainly by common, generalist species, which are usually of least conservation concern (e.g., Selwood et al., 2009). Indeed, revegetation might promote invasion by non-native species that often dominate disturbed forest edges (Sizer and Tanner, 1999).

The longer-term benefits of environmental plantings, both in terms of their biodiversity value and eventual sequestration potential, are difficult to assess because most plantings are <30 years old. Active management of young plantings will be required to supplement habitat resources, manage feral animals and weeds (Ferretti and de Britez, 2006; Munro et al., 2011), and maintain natural processes such as fire (Hartley, 2002). For example, tree hollows and coarse woody debris can take many decades to develop naturally (Vesk et al., 2008). However, the addition of coarse woody debris and artificial hollows to facilitate colonisation by some dependent species (Hartley, 2002; Munro et al., 2007) is unlikely to occur solely through carbon farming. Although environmental plantings might increase habitat area or quality in the ways mentioned above, decisions that prioritise sequestration alone are likely to encourage monocultures, or fast-growing, low-diversity timber stands that maximise carbon gains (Bekessy and Wintle, 2008; Munro et al., 2009). Indeed, the currently approved Carbon Farming Initiative methodology for native species planting permits native monocultures (Box 2). The biodiversity values of such plantations are likely to be low (Forrester et al., 2006; Kirby and Potvin, 2007). Environmental plantings will only have real biodiversity value if they comprise appropriate native tree and shrub species and provide suitable habitats and resources for valued fauna, which has been recognised through carbon-farming initiatives (Department of Climate Change and Energy Efficiency, 2011) such as the Australian Clean Energy Future Biodiversity Fund (www.cleanenergyfuture.gov.au/biodiversity-fund).

The carbon stock of undisturbed native forests is considerably greater on average than forests subject to commercial logging and monoculture plantations (Moroni et al., 2010; Preece et al., 2012), because the high rate of carbon fixation in younger, regenerating commercial plantations does not compensate for their smaller carbon stock (Mackey et al., 2008). The sequestration value of commercial plantations increases when substitution benefits are considered. Commercial plantings with greater genetic, taxonomic and functional diversity of natural forests are likely to be more resilient to disturbance (e.g., fire, pests, diseases) and resistant to climate change (Mackey et al., 2008). While substantial areas have already been revegetated across Australia using environmental plantings, no national protocols are in place to track, monitor or evaluate their outcomes (Atyeo and Thackway, 2009).

3.2.2. Potential negative effects

The first requirement to avoid perverse environmental outcomes from environmental plantings is that they should not replace existing native vegetation with smaller carbon stocks, such as grasslands and shrublands (Kapambwe and Keenan, 2009; Bond and Parr, 2010; Lindenmayer et al., 2012). While this will not be permitted in most regions of Australia given strong anti-clearing legislation (Bradshaw, 2012; Supplementary Table S1), it remains a considerable danger in many other countries (e.g., Koh and Wilcove, 2009).

Forest regrowth and large-scale plantings also might have strong negative effects on catchment hydrology in agricultural areas (Vertessy et al., 2003), with lowered water tables having profound consequences for existing vegetation (Struhsaker et al., 1989; Jayasuriya et al., 1993). Also, when forest cover exceeds 15–20%, the reduction in runoff is typically proportional to the percentage of catchment that is forested (Zhang et al., 2007). In lowrainfall areas, this results in seasonal or permanent loss of stream flow (Lane et al., 2003). In a global analysis of runoff changes in 504 catchments, Jackson et al. (2005) reported that commercial plantations (>20% catchment area; median 80%) caused streams to dry completely for at least a year in 13% of the catchments studied. The loss of perennial flow and extension of cease-to-flow periods can have substantial, negative ecological impacts (Boulton and Hancock, 2006; Lake, 2011), but might often be overlooked from a hydrological perspective because of the minor contribution of dry season flows to total water yields.

The ecological effect of environmental plantings in reducing runoff is further exacerbated by pre-existing channelisation and erosion of riverbanks, which have caused river incision and sediment deposition in the bed, greatly reducing in-stream hydraulic retention (Page and Carden, 1998; Mactaggart et al., 2006). This results in reduced hydrological permanence of small streams and rivers (Mactaggart et al., 2006). There is a consequent risk that riverine, lacustrine and palustrine dry-season refuges will be lost, even in areas of low pre-European tree densities (Bond and Lake, 2004). These issues will need to be carefully considered against the benefits of broad-scale, high-density plantings.

4. Regrowth

Although much of the developing world continues to clear its forests at alarming rates (Bradshaw et al., 2009), broad-scale vegetation clearing in Australia has effectively ceased (Bradshaw, 2012). Small-scale clearing continues (see also Supplementary Table S1) and southern and eastern landscapes in Australia that were formerly treed still suffer from extensive fragmentation and from extinction debts (McIntyre and Hobbs, 1999; Bradshaw, 2012). In addition, rural die-back (Landsberg and Wylie, 1988) will ensure that many modified, former wooded landscapes continue to lose tree cover and alter in composition over coming decades. Nonetheless, regrowth of native vegetation in many formerly treed, shrubby or perennial grassy landscapes is becoming more



Fig. 2. The processes of regrowth illustrating various syndromes of modified grassy woodlands. A lack of regrowth (left panels) caused by intensive grazing management can generally be addressed by changing management practices to achieve a more desirable plant community structure (right panels). Where there are problems with too much regrowth (right panels), this can generally be addressed by changing management practices to achieve a more desirable plant community structure (right panels). Where there are problems with too much regrowth (right panels), this can generally be addressed by changing management practices to achieve a more acceptable plant community structure (i.e., the reference condition of less regrowth) (left panels). By 'acceptable', we refer either to a baseline from which additionality can be assessed after the introduction of regrowth management. The sketches also show the issue of how tree health and vigour can mitigate regrowth (left panels, top to bottom). The conclusion is that if more vigorous regrowth is desired, management should focus on enhancing younger, more fertile trees.

prevalent (Dorrough and Moxham, 2005), much as it is in the United Kingdom and Europe following agricultural abandonment (Stoate et al., 2009). Depending on the severity and intensity of management practices over time, native vegetation systems retain varying degrees of regrowth, often described as 'regenerative capacity' (Thackway and Lesslie, 2008) (Fig. 2).

Regrowth can have both desirable and undesirable outcomes according to the environmental, economic or social contexts, including public-private land conservation management partnerships (Thackway and Olsson, 1999). However, the appropriate management of regrowth could offer a range of benefits for both biodiversity (Woinarski et al., 2009) and carbon sequestration.

4.1. How regrowth management will change under carbon pricing

By *regrowth* management, we mean the action of keeping (i.e., not clearing) existing human-modified native vegetation of varying ages and condition states on agricultural land, or avoiding cropping and continuous grazing in areas previously under agriculture (Thackway and Lesslie, 2008). Remnant (unmodified) vegetation is largely protected in Australia, and cannot be included in carbon-trading schemes due to additionality restrictions. Therefore, vegetation retention under Australian carbon legislation defaults

to regrowth. Since most young regrowth can be legally re-cleared for agriculture (Supplementary Table S1), there is an opportunity to protect it for its carbon-sequestration role. Regrowth falls within the definition of environmental 'woodland' planting (Eady et al., 2009) and potentially also within the definition of reforestation under the Kyoto Protocol.

There are, however, substantial differences in the protection offered to regrowth in different jurisdictions (see Supplementary Table S1 for state-specific legislation). For example, regrowth is protected if: >10 years since last clearing or >50% foliage cover of vegetation present prior to European settlement in New South Wales; if >70% of the pre-European canopy height in Queensland; and >50% of the pre-European species composition in Victoria. Other legislative complications mean that in some states (New South Wales and Queensland), native regrowth in over-cleared landscapes might already be protected for biodiversity as the only remaining habitat or as an endangered ecological community (Supplementary Table S1). Lastly, some regrowth vegetation is declared to be 'invasive native species' (e.g., in New South Wales; see Supplementary Table S1) and so may be replaced with more productive vegetation cover, or re-cleared for agricultural production.

In some states, legislation prevents thinning of dense regrowth stands. In the Brigalow Belt of Queensland (Fig. 1), for example, dense *Callitris* regrowth cannot be easily or cheaply removed to promote rehabilitation of native grasses and a productive grazing system, but offers the potential to sequester large amounts of carbon (McAlpine et al., 2011). A compromise may be to 'thin' the *Callitris* regrowth to create grassy woodlands more typical of the area prior to the introduction of domestic stock (i.e., pre-European conditions).

4.2. Regrowth benefits for biodiversity

Regrowth vegetation potentially has high biodiversity value (Woinarski et al., 2009), can sequester large amounts of carbon (Moroni et al., 2010), and when appropriately managed, can be restored to the vegetation state present at time of European colonisation. Management of regrowth for this purpose has other advantages over environmental plantings because intensive ecosystem restoration is not required, the species are locally adapted and therefore potentially more resilient, and the stands contribute to restoration of mature, local ecosystems within fragmented landscapes (Fensham and Guymer, 2009). In particular, *Acacia*-dominated regrowth (e.g., brigalow *A. harpophylla* and mulga *A. aneura*) not only has high biosequestration potential because such ecosystems are extensive, including on fallow agricultural and pastoral lands (Dwyer et al., 2009; Witt et al., 2009; McAlpine et al., 2011).

There is increasing awareness and knowledge of how to apply appropriate land-management practices to native vegetation to change ecosystem function (Thackway and Lesslie, 2008). For example, exclusion of grazing in and burning of brigalow regrowth ecosystems enhance carbon sequestration (Howden et al., 2001; Witt et al., 2009). However, some grazing combined with thinning of regrowth (e.g., to 4000–6000 stems ha⁻¹ of brigalow) can also increase carbon retention without increasing fire risk (McAlpine et al., 2011), provided the net carbon benefits are positive after accounting for any emissions increases associated with livestock grazing. Integrating environmental plantings within a mixed agricultural enterprise can also reduce the loss of economic productivity to private landowners from reduced grazing or cropping opportunities.

Many of the same negative outcomes for biodiversity described for environmental plantings could arise from unmanaged regrowth, including increased fire risk as the wood biomass increases, inappropriate floristic composition, a reduced opportunity to manage feral animals within dense regrowth, and a lower availability of surface water. A potential method to reduce these risks is the high stocking density, fast-rotation (e.g., less than or equal to 90 days/year) grazing method (Fischer et al., 2009). This reduces the effects of continuous stocking while minimising vegetation damage and promoting regeneration. While complete exclusion of livestock grazing is commonly used to enhance natural regeneration, it imposes high opportunity costs, whereas fast-rotational grazing allows the land to remain economically productive. This provides a win-win opportunity for tree regeneration and commercial livestock grazing (Fischer et al., 2009). With the use of electric fencing, the increased infrastructure needed for fast-rotation grazing can be provided relatively cheaply. Another way to reduce fire risk in either revegetation or regrowth-management areas is to coordinate property-specific fire planning with regional fire management plans applied to neighbouring areas of native vegetation.

Setting clear definitions for 'baseline' vegetation targets (see also Table 1) – and well-planned management interventions that might include soil scarification, thinning, weed and feral animal removal and fertiliser restrictions – can also assist in planning and measuring the success of interventions to manage regrowth to meet multiple outcomes (Thackway, 2012). Regrowth management should include the requirement to pass an additionality test, such that improvement can be measured after the cessation of suppression of regrowth or the exclusion of livestock. Ensuring additionality might also be feasible in situations where vegetation is not protected and deforestation is avoided through the surrender of a permit or approval to clear.

5. Fire management

Deliberate application of fire under mild fire-weather conditions (prescribed burning) can influence the carbon cycle by: (1) indirectly increasing carbon storage and (2) abating non-CO₂



Fig. 3. Fire frequency throughout Australia from 1997 to 2010, inclusive, derived from AVHRR satellite imagery (Russell-Smith et al., 2007). The approximate domains of the tropical savannas in the north, and the eucalypt forests in the south are shown.

greenhouse gas emissions. There is clear evidence that certain fire regimes can increase relative carbon storage (Williams et al., 2012). High-intensity wildfires consume large amounts of biomass, leading to large losses of carbon to the atmosphere. Reducing the frequency of high-intensity wildfires should therefore increase biomass retention and carbon storage. Secondly, burning biomass produces large quantities of potent greenhouse gases such as methane and nitrous oxides (with global warming potentials \sim 21–25 and \sim 298 times that of CO₂ over 100 years, respectively) (Forster et al., 2007). Hence, minimising the amount of fuel burnt by landscape fires can generate a substantial carbon benefit, irrespective of any increases in carbon storage. Critically, such abatement of non-CO₂ greenhouse gas emissions is not subject to permanency requirements because it does not rely on increasing, or even maintaining, the amount of carbon stored in the system (Cook and Mever, 2009).

5.1. Anticipated fire regime changes under carbon-price legislation

The emerging carbon economy is likely to affect fire management in north Australian savannas more than any other region, because this is where the largest areas of burning (Russell-Smith et al., 2007) (Fig. 3) and biomass consumed by fires (Department of Climate Change and Energy Efficiency, 2010a) are located. The Australian savannas are home to the world's first landscape-scale carbon and fire-management scheme: the 23,000-km² West Arnhem Land Fire Abatement (WALFA) project that generates a carbon credit of 100,000 t CO_2 -e year⁻¹ (based on abatement of non- CO_2 greenhouse gas emissions only) as a result of prescribed burning under a voluntary offset arrangement (Russell-Smith et al., 2009). A key objective of WALFA is to provide training and employment for local indigenous people, in a region where such opportunities are otherwise scarce, and to re-establish customary fire management practices. A recent cost-benefit analysis (Heckbert et al., 2012) suggests that WALFA-style fire projects are likely to be viable across 50 million ha of north Australian savannas, assuming a carbon price of $23 \text{ t CO}_2 - e^{-1}$. Complementing voluntary offset projects such as WALFA, the Australian Government has recently approved a carbon-offset methodology using savanna fire management (Box 2) to abate non-CO₂ greenhouse gas emissions (Australian Government, 2012a) and a methodology for increasing carbon storage in savanna biomass is already under development (J. Russell-Smith, Charles Darwin University, Darwin, pers. comm.). Under both approaches, managers aim to reduce the amount of fuel consumed by fires by (1) burning under mild fire-weather conditions, thereby reducing fire severity, or (2) reducing the overall extent of burning.

The potential for fire management to generate substantial carbon credits in less fire-prone parts of Australia is limited. For example, modelling by Bradstock et al. (2012) suggests that prescribed burning in southern Australia's eucalypt forests is ineffective for generating carbon credits. This is because of a combination of factors: prescribed burning itself generates substantial greenhouse gas emissions, and wildfires are unlikely to encounter recently treated areas unless large areas of forest are treated, thereby negating the benefits of reducing wildfire frequency. A similar conclusion was reached for forested regions of the western USA (Campbell et al., 2011).

Fire is considered mandatory for the regeneration of Australian old-growth and regrowth eucalypt forests (McCarthy et al., 1999), but forest systems that require periodic disturbance for regeneration are particularly complex to manage. For example, some argue that in temperate flammable forests such as in the western USA, thinning of dense tree regeneration (that has developed due to decades of fire suppression and logging), followed by frequent, lowintensity fires, can make these systems more stable and stronger carbon sinks by reducing the risks of severe stand-replacing fires or conversion to treeless vegetation (Hurteau and Brooks, 2011). However, others dispute this claim, arguing that carbon losses from thinning of forests will be greater than carbon loss from wildfires in untreated forests, and that large areas of fuel treatment are required to influence wildfire activity at the landscape scale (Campbell et al., 2011).

The use of fire in the management of Australian temperate tall, wet eucalypt forests is controversial and illustrates the complexities of managing flammable forests for biodiversity, wood production and ecosystem services. These forests require fire for regeneration (Ashton, 1981) but in the rare event that stands remain unburnt beyond the lifespan of the dominant eucalypts (>500 years), temperate rainforest can form a climax community that excludes eucalypts (Jackson, 1968). Conversely, high fire frequencies can favour multi-aged forests or non-forest vegetation with much lower biomass (Jackson, 1968).

5.2. Implications for biodiversity

Andersen et al. (2012) recently noted that, while carbon and biodiversity values are currently aligned in north Australian savannas, they might diverge if long-term fire exclusion was implemented because this could eventually reduce biodiversity values. Savanna fire managers aim to prevent large, high-intensity fires that typically occur late in the dry season (Murphy et al., 2009; Russell-Smith et al., 2009); there is ample evidence that this strategy will be beneficial to many components of biodiversity, since frequent, high-intensity fires cause the decline of rainforests (Russell-Smith and Bowman, 1992) and stands of the fire-sensitive conifer Callitris intratropica (Trauernicht et al., 2012), sandstone heaths (Russell-Smith et al., 2002) and probably also small mammals (Pardon et al., 2003; Woinarski et al., 2010, 2011). Indeed, the West Arnhem Land Fire Abatement project was established with the primary aim of re-imposing fire regimes conducive to the maintenance of biodiversity, subsidised by the generation of carbon credits (Russell-Smith et al., 2009). In the first six years of the project's operation, there has been a strong shift from a late dry season- (August-November) to an early dry season- (April-July) dominated fire regime, including a slight reduction in the area burnt annually (Price et al., 2012).

5.3. Improving fire-managed carbon for biodiversity

As described in Section 4.1, there appears to be little scope to use fire to manage carbon in southern Australia's forests because of the infrequent occurrence of landscape fire and the carbon costs of interventions. However in northern Australia, fire management projects are rapidly emerging with multiple objectives: carbon credits, biodiversity conservation and maintaining indigenous cultural values while providing socio-economic benefits for local indigenous people. A greater focus on reducing fire frequencies could greatly benefit savanna biodiversity (Woinarski et al., 2010, 2011). For instance, several researchers have recommended an urgent reduction in overall fire frequencies and the extent of area burnt to address the declines of fire-sensitive taxa such as small mammals (Woinarski et al., 2010; Andersen et al., 2012). However, implementing biodiversity-friendly savanna fire regimes remains an enormous management challenge. We cannot yet identify fire regimes that are optimal for maintaining biodiversity. Current management paradigms, such as 'patch mosaic burning', tend to be based on vague heuristic models for which there is little theoretical or empirical support (Parr and Andersen, 2006). Our capacity to impose optimal fire regimes is also limited, with some researchers questioning whether prescribed burning – the key fire management tool in the savannas - can actually deliver a reduction in overall fire frequencies (Archibald, 2011). This conundrum is exemplified by a rapid decline of small mammals in Kakadu National Park over the last three decades, suspected to be partly linked to inappropriate fire regimes (Pardon et al., 2003; Woinarski et al., 2010, 2011), despite a well-resourced fire-management program in the park. Systematic research into the identification and implementation of optimal fire regimes for biodiversity conservation in Australia's fire-prone ecosystems is therefore urgently needed. There is also a need to evaluate different management scenarios within a formal decision analysis framework to ensure that multiple objectives are achieved.

6. Forestry

Forestry in Australia is in the final stages of a historic transition from past heavy reliance on old-growth forest for harvest (*Eucalyptus* and tropical and subtropical rainforests) to increasing harvests of plantations (Bradshaw, 2012), mainly of *Eucalyptus* and *Pinus*, as well as of regrowth eucalypt forests. Plantations have been established on native grasslands, agricultural lands, converted native forest and woodland and native grasslands (Grimbacher, 2011). Fire is often, but not always, used in the establishment of plantations, as it is a cheap and effective tool for removing logging debris. However, a price on emissions, concerns about smoke pollution on human health (Johnston et al., 2002), and runaway fires could make this practice less attractive.

Australian foresters have developed a silvicultural system to mimic the natural fire regimes of tall eucalypt forests (Mount, 1979). Key elements of the system are clear-felling large areas (c. 50 ha), burning the logging debris in intense fires, and sowing eucalypt seeds on the ashbed (Hickey et al., 2001). The primary objective is to produce cohorts of young eucalypts with a shorter rotation (c. 100 years) that grow more rapidly than trees in oldgrowth stands. However, Lindenmayer et al. (2011) argue that an unappreciated aspect of forestry in tall eucalypt forests has been the development of a 'landscape trap'. Here, landscapes are shifted into a highly compromised structural and functional state that is maintained as the result of multiple temporal and spatial feedbacks between human and natural disturbance regimes. However, Ferguson and Cheney (2011) reject this view, claiming that frequent wildfires create 'landscape traps' whereas logged areas contain lower fuel mass, thereby reducing wildfire intensity and risk. The issue becomes more problematic given that climate change will likely increase the frequency and intensity of dry periods, and thereby increase the risk of fire in southern Australia's forests while reducing their capacity to recover from disturbance (Caccamo et al., 2012).

6.1. Anticipated forestry changes under carbon-price legislation

In addition to established concerns about the aesthetic, biodiversity and soil erosion impacts of industrial forestry, traditional approaches to forestry management have been criticised because of the mounting need to minimise greenhouse gas emissions and maximise carbon storage. Given the high carbon density of old-growth, tall eucalypt forests (Keith et al., 2009), some advocate that these forests can become substantial carbon stores if the remaining old growth stands are conserved and logging rotation periods are increased (thereby realising the coupe's 'carbon carry-ing capacity' and providing more habitat area for old-growth-specialist species) (Mackey et al., 2008). Others argue instead that the concept of 'carbon carrying capacity' is unrealistic for tall eucalypt forests because of their inherent dependence on wildfires (Moroni et al., 2010), prompting a debate about the measurement and interpretation of estimated forest carbon stocks in these systems

(Dean, 2011; Moroni et al., 2012). For example, it is unrealistic to assume that all forest stands can simultaneously support maximum carbon stocks, which raises the question of what is an appropriate mix of stand ages in a landscape. Dean et al. (2012) argue that lengthening the harvest rotation from 80 to 200 years would substantially reduce long-term emissions from these forests, which would benefit a wider array of forest-dependent species (Lindenmayer and McCarthy, 2002). Modifications to forest management practices, such as lengthening rotation, are not covered by the current version of the Carbon Farming Initiative.

Mitchell et al. (2012) note four major ways that forestry can contribute to carbon mitigation under the Kyoto Protocol: (1) afforestation or reforestation; (2) avoidance of deforestation; (3) forest management, and (4) bioenergy. They note that forest management was not included in Australia's targets for the Kyoto Protocol because of "difficulties in establishing a baseline estimate and potentially large emissions from fire and drought". Evaluation of the impact of logging on the carbon balance must consider the life cycle of the wood products, emissions associated with harvesting, and the carbon embedded in products used as substitutes if eucalypt forests are not harvested (i.e., leakage) (Harmon et al., 1990; Lippke et al., 2011; Dean et al., 2012; Moroni, 2012; Ximenes et al., 2012). Currently there is a paucity of data to derive a holistic appreciation of the carbon budget of forestry in Australia.

Forestry wastes remain a peripheral energy source: only 1% of Australia's bioenergy (bioenergy itself representing only 1% of the nation's electrical supply) is provided by these wastes (Mitchell et al., 2012). Yet, forest management and bioenergy are important and controversial for forest biodiversity conservation. Improved forest management could reduce carbon emissions, and of particular importance are the greenhouse gas emissions resulting from the silvicultural practice of burning logging debris in intense fires. Avoiding post-logging burning would lead to a substantial reduction in greenhouse gas and protect coarse woody debris and organic soil horizons (Slijepcevic, 2001). Yet leaving heavy loads of logging debris after logging is unrealistic given the high fire risk posed by these fuels. One mooted alternative is to burn logging debris in furnaces to generate electricity (bioenergy). This was classified as an eligible renewable energy source under the Commonwealth Renewable Energy (Electricity) Act 2000 until a recent controversial amendment to the Act.

6.2. Improving forestry for biodiversity in a carbon economy

The optimal way to manage flammable forests to maintain biodiversity values and carbon storage remains elusive. At one pole of the debate is an attempt to log forests 'sustainably', while the other aims to use native forests to sequester carbon while maintaining old-growth forest biodiversity values. Both approaches are vulnerable to perverse outcomes. For example, exclusive conservation of Australian forests could increase destruction of tropical forests to provide sawn timber supplies (an example of international 'leakage'), increase greenhouse gas pollution from wood substitutes such as steel, and increase competition for land and water between plantations and agriculture (Mitchell et al., 2012). Further, Ximenes et al. (2012) argue that increasing the reservation status of existing Australian production forests could instead lead to an increase in greenhouse gas pollution because of forgoing the opportunity to generate renewable energy from forests, which will become increasingly profitable as the carbon price rises, especially if the conversion of biomass to liquid fuels becomes commercially feasible (Mitchell et al., 2012). Thinning forests could provide a way of reducing destructive fires, thereby protecting biodiversity, increasing carbon stocks and producing bioenergy (Lippke et al., 2011; Bowman et al., 2013). Conversely, unsustainable forestry can result in ecologically degraded forests that store a small fraction of their carbon potential, have reduced biodiversity due to loss of tree hollows and coarse woody debris, and are vulnerable to recurrent landscape fires (Lindenmayer and McCarthy, 2002). Another negative implication for Australian biodiversity is that the recent application of a price on carbon emissions in Australia potentially makes woody material a more economically attractive product. This is because forest products have become low-emissions goods given that the forest industry will not have to pay for emissions from fertilisers, timber harvesting or off-road vehicles and machinery (Australian Government, 2012b). Thus, under current policy settings and directions, woody biomass management could face an increasing tension between harvesting to supply society with low-emission products, and storing carbon in landscapes by avoiding harvesting.

There is therefore a profound philosophical tension between the harvest of wood products and preservation of forests for biodiversity. In the future this debate will no doubt be sharpened greatly by the urgent need to find sustainable energy supplies to replace fossil fuels and the recognition of the limits to forest sequestration shaped by the saturation of forests managed for carbon, demands for agricultural lands and climate change effects on the biosphere. Active forest management to store carbon and conserve biodiversity is essential, especially in Australia where landscape fire is an essential feature of most ecosystems. Such management should be evidence-based and adaptive, an approach that is at odds with the current common simplistic and binary attitudes about forestry.

7. Agriculture

In the 60% of Australia that is devoted to cropping and grazing, numerous interventions have been proffered to sequester carbon or otherwise reduce net greenhouse gas emissions. At the time of writing, only a small number of these interventions have reached the 'positive list' of activities within the Carbon Farming Initiative (Box 2). In this section therefore, we will mainly consider activities that are serious candidates for future inclusion on the positive list and that will affect ecosystem function (either on- or off-site) sufficiently to have substantial effects on biodiversity. These interventions include changes to the management of soils, increases in the perenniality and structural complexity of plant communities in grazing lands, and reductions in the numbers of grazing ruminants.

7.1. Anticipated changes under carbon-price legislation

7.1.1. Soil management

The application of nitrogenous (N) fertilisers under unfavourable conditions results in the release of nitrous oxides, which are powerful greenhouse gases (Dalal et al., 2003). These N losses represent environmental pollution and a direct economic cost to agriculture. In addition, considerable CO_2 is emitted from energy sources during the manufacture and transport of N fertilisers. Interventions to make N fertiliser applications more efficient or to replace them with biologically fixed N are therefore likely to be encouraged by a price on greenhouse gas emissions.

Amendment of soil with biochar (the residue from pyrolysis of plant biomass) is a means of sequestering carbon in the soil on millennial time scales (Sohi et al., 2010). Biochar addition appears to improve agricultural productivity in many situations; while the mechanisms are unclear (Sohi et al., 2010), this increases its attractiveness as a potential carbon–offset methodology. Reductions in tillage frequency increase ground cover and improve soil structure, thus increasing soil water storage and reducing runoff and erosion. While reduced tillage assists in maintaining soil carbon and potentially reduces greenhouse gas emissions (Radford and Thornton, 2011; Wang et al., 2011), it is too common a practice to meet the additionality requirements for carbon credits; instead, a specific subsidy for equipment purchases to encourage further adoption of reduced tillage has been included in the overall Clean Energy Futures program.

7.1.2. Changes to agricultural vegetation

Introducing, or managing to increase, the perennial grass content of pastures and rangelands is likely to enhance carbon sequestration, either through higher overall net primary production or greater allocation of below-ground resources (Sanderman et al., 2010). In a tropical savanna, Ash et al. (1995) showed that pastures dominated by annual grasses had 42% less soil carbon than those dominated by perennial grasses. In annual-dominated agricultural systems in Mediterranean environments, kikuyu (Pennisetum clandestinum) is a favoured C₄ perennial (e.g., McDowall et al., 2003); there was a substantial soil carbon increase when annual pastures were converted to kikuvu in south-western Western Australia that was larger than the estimated leakage through higher methane emissions from livestock (Thomas et al., 2012). In temperate grasslands based on C₃ species, however, the difference in soil carbon accumulation under similarly managed perennial and annual pastures appears to be small (Chan et al., 2010). Sequestration of soil carbon requires a corresponding sequestration of soil nutrients (Kirkby et al., 2011), in particular phosphorus. Carbon-sequestration activities in using exotic perennial grasses temperate areas are therefore likely to require ongoing fertiliser inputs.

Increased retention and regrowth of native shrubs in arid and semi-arid agricultural landscapes are likely outcomes of the new carbon economy. Native shrubs have long been used as forage in the pastoral zone, especially during periods of drought. There has been interest over the last 20 years in integrating shrubs into low-rainfall farming landscapes, where many would have grown prior to clearing for agriculture (Lefroy et al., 1992). These shrubs have an economic value as a predictable source of feed in the dry season and in unfavourable years, and are expected to increase soil carbon stocks and to reduce soil erosion with its associated carbon losses (Monjardino et al., 2009). More recently, some shrubs such as *Eremophila* spp. (Vercoe et al., 2009) have been identified as containing bioactive substances that might mitigate enteric methane emissions from ruminants (Table 1).

Government agencies across Australia are now changing ground-cover management approaches to increase the vegetative ground cover protecting the soil surface from wind and water erosion in agricultural and rangeland areas. These changes will potentially lead to increased carbon sequestration and improved maintenance of biodiversity (Leys et al., 2009).

7.1.3. Reductions in ruminant numbers

Approximately 10% of Australia's total greenhouse gas emissions are methane gas produced by livestock enteric fermentation, with about half of these emissions derived from the northern Australia beef industry (Henry et al., 2012). Destocking areas of the Australian rangelands has therefore been proposed as a greenhouse gas-mitigation strategy with co-benefits for rehabilitation of over-grazed ecosystems (Eady et al., 2009). The potential for additional greenhouse gas mitigation via soil carbon sequestration following destocking is uncertain, as are the timeframe and extent of recovery in landscape function. Incremental changes, such as reduction in stocking rate, pasture resting and rotational grazing are more likely to be adopted by graziers aiming to increase soil carbon stores under native pastures. However, to be eligible under the Carbon Farming Initiative, for example, any shifts in grazing regime would have to meet additionality requirements. These options will be particularly relevant in the rangelands where grazing is almost

exclusively on native pastures, and other management options are limited.

An alternative to reducing grazing pressure in the rangelands is to shift the economic basis of the rangelands away from ruminants and toward kangaroos, which are foregut fermenters and produce much less methane (Wilson and Edwards, 2008; Madsen and Bertelsen, 2012) (Table 2). This proposed shift in rangeland use would be transformative; as Wilson and Edwards (2008) acknowledge, it would involve both the development of a completely new value chain and major social shifts amongst both producers and consumers of rangeland meat.

7.2. Implications for biodiversity

7.2.1. Soil management

Where nitrogen moves from agricultural systems into wetlands and water bodies, the change in nutrient balances will alter biological dynamics. Many aquatic systems have large denitrification capacity, but in the process, degradation of some species and shifts in species composition occur (Harris, 2001). More efficient methods of supplying nitrogen to crops and pastures that also reduce the movement of nitrogen into water bodies can therefore be expected to benefit biodiversity. Reduced tillage should increase soil faunal abundance, but the effects on soil biodiversity are mixed: diversity of microorganisms increases, but effects on the mesofauna are inconsistent (Holland, 2004).

There is little evidence on which to base an assessment of the consequences of biochar application for biodiversity, although Khodadad et al. (2011) report losses in soil microbial diversity upon amendment with biochar. Current application methods typically involve incorporation into the soil (Sparkes and Stoutjesdijk, 2011), implying that biochar applications in Australia will be limited to highly transformed agricultural lands. Consequences of biochar *production* for biodiversity should be similar to those of plantation forestry where the char is produced for woody biomass.

7.2.2. Changes to agricultural vegetation

The biodiversity consequences of introducing or managing perennial grasses for carbon sequestration will depend on which vegetation types they replace. In the rangelands, introduced C₄ grasses (such as buffel grass *Cenchrus ciliaris*) are sown widely. Introducing buffel grass decreases native plant diversity and abundance, hampers tree recruitment (Fairfax and Fensham, 2000; Clarke et al., 2005; Jackson, 2005) and increases the intensity of fires that kill overstorey plants, changing woodland structure (Miller et al., 2010). These effects on vegetation composition and structure reduce the diversity of native fauna, including invertebrates and reptiles (Eyre et al., 2009; Smyth et al., 2009) and small, browsing native mammals such as the bridled nailtail wallaby *Onychogalea fraenata* (Green, 2010).

In mixed-farming areas, the biodiversity consequences of a shift to sown perennial pastures are likely to differ. Bridle et al. (2009) found that farm-scale species richness correlates with the amount of pasture (and remnant native vegetation), as well as site and landscape characteristics. The consequences for biodiversity of a land-use shift to kikuyu pastures are unknown, but kikuyu (like buffel grass) is strongly competitive and likely to exclude native plant species. On the other hand, the introduction of kikuyu pastures is likely to be associated with a lengthening of pasture phases in rotations, allowing a build-up in structural diversity – and hence array of micro-habitats – compared to the annual pastures that they would replace.

Persistence of native plant species in the managed grasslands of the high-rainfall zone is negatively correlated with both grazing intensity and soil phosphorus (Dorrough and Scroggie, 2008). Stock utilisation rate is expected to decline in pastures managed for carbon sequestration, thus enhancing diversity of native plant species. However, the phosphorus fertiliser inputs likely required to maintain soil carbon sequestration rates can be expected to reduce biodiversity. Nonetheless, there appear to be management strategies for at least some native grasslands that support relatively high net primary production while maintaining vegetation diversity (Kemp et al., 2003). Grasslands with a perennial grass component are likely to be structurally more diverse, which should enhance invertebrate diversity (Reid and Hochuli, 2007). Retention and regeneration of native shrubs such as *Eremophila* and *Atriplex* spp., has potential to improve biodiversity persistence and recovery in low-rainfall areas. Indeed, plantings of saltbush (Atriplex

Table 2

Annual methane (and CO2 equivalent) production for herbivore species introduced into Australia. Cattle, sheep (livestock) and kangaroo emissions are shown for comparison.

| Species | Estimated population | kg CH ₄ indiv ⁻¹ year ⁻¹ (source: NGGI ^a) | Total t CH ₄ year ⁻¹ | Total t CO ₂ -e year ^{-1} (1 t CH ₄ = 21 t CO ₂ -e) |
|------------------------------------|--|--|--|--|
| Cattle | >20 million | ~90 | >1.8 × 10 ⁶ | >3.78 × 10 ⁷ |
| Sheep | 68 million | ~7 | $4.76 	imes 10^5$ | $1.0 	imes 10^7$ |
| Kangaroo ^b | 33.8 million ^c | 0.14 ^d | $4.83 	imes 10^3$ | $1.01 	imes 10^5$ |
| Pigs | 13.5 million ^e , ^f | 3.5 ^ª , ^g | $4.73 	imes 10^4$ | $9.93 	imes 10^5$ |
| Camels | >1 million ^h | 39.3 | >3.93 × 10 ⁴ | $>8.25 \times 10^{5}$ |
| Buffalo | 0.35 million ⁱ | 53.8 | $1.88 	imes 10^4$ | $3.95 	imes 10^5$ |
| Goats | 2.6 million ^j | 4.8 | $1.25 	imes 10^4$ | $2.63 	imes 10^5$ |
| Rabbits | 200 million | 0.05 ^k | $1.0 	imes 10^4$ | $2.1 	imes 10^5$ |
| Deer | 0.2 million ¹ | 11.9 | $2.38 	imes 10^3$ | $5.0 	imes 10^4$ |
| Total livestock (cattle and sheep) | | >2.28 × 10 ⁶ | $>4.79 \times 10^{7}$ | |
| Total feral herbivores | | | 1.30×10^5 | $2.73 	imes 10^6$ |
| | | | | |

^a National Greenhouse Gas Inventory (http://ageis.climatechange.gov.au/NGGI.aspx).

^b Red (Macropus rufus), western grey (M. fuliginosus), eastern grey (M. giganteus), euro (M. robustus).

^c Mean population estimate between 2001–2006 for commercial harvest areas (Wilson and Edwards, 2008); therefore, all estimates represent minimum values.

^d Based on 0.003 t indiv⁻¹ yr⁻¹ greenhouse gas equivalents (Kempton et al., 1976).

^e (Department of the Environment and Heritage, 2005; Department of Sustainability, 2011b).

f Hone (1990a).

^g Most greenhouse gas emissions associated with domestic pigs originate from their manure, but feral pig faeces will decompose in a largely aerobic environment, thus producing a much lower quantity of methane or N₂O. Therefore, direct methane emissions for feral pigs will be a maximum of 3 kg CH₄ indiv⁻¹ year⁻¹ (based on the National Greenhouse Gas Inventory^a 0.7% of gross energy intake and 3.5 kg dry matter intake day⁻¹).

^h Saalfeld and Edwards (2008).

ⁱ Bradshaw et al. (2007a).

^j Department of Sustainability (2011a).

k Franz et al. (2011).

¹ Queensland Government (2012).

spp.) have higher plant and/or bird diversity than the crops and pastures that they replace (Seddon et al., 2009; Collard et al., 2011).

7.2.3. Reductions in ruminant numbers

Pastoralism in southern Australia is associated with declines in around half of Australia's terrestrial mammals and the extinction of >20 species (Fisher et al., 2003; Johnson, 2006). Overgrazing is also blamed for the decline of tropical granivorous grassland birds (Franklin et al., 2005). Resultant loss of biodiversity in rangelands appears to have occurred because (1) sheep and cattle have removed native pasture plants that were palatable to native browsers and grazers, (2) overgrazing has created adverse soil conditions such as compaction and erosion which are not conducive to biodiversity retention, (3) damage to ground-level vegetation caused by hard hooves increases habitat suitability and hunting success for introduced red foxes (Vulpes vulpes) and feral cats (Felis catus), and (4) persecution of dingoes in the sheep rangelands advantages foxes in particular (Johnson, 2006; Johnson et al., 2007). Destocking of rangelands in key areas of habitat should abate these drivers (Legge et al., 2011), although recovery from adverse soil conditions could be slow. Replacement of hoofed ungulates by soft-footed kangaroos in semi-arid rangelands would benefit biodiversity in much the same way as for destocking, in particular by disadvantaging feral predators (Grigg, 1989).

In some cases, however, destocking can indirectly reduce biodiversity in grazed savannas given that grazing has been linked to woody vegetation thickening (Burrows et al., 2002). For example, vigorous regrowth and proliferation of mulga (*Acacia aneura*) in south-western Queensland can result in higher concentration of soil carbon and above-ground biomass, but lower species richness (Witt et al., 2011). In mixed-farming areas, greenhouse gas mitigation via the removal of ruminants would be accompanied by a land-use shift toward cropping with nitrogen fertilisation that would almost certainly have negative consequences for plant, animal and soil fauna biodiversity, and increased greenhouse gas emissions.

Where livestock numbers are reduced rather than removed, the consequences of changes in grazing management on carbon sequestration and biodiversity will be determined primarily by their effects on vegetation structure and composition (Pringle et al., 2011). The effectiveness of more intensive rotational grazing systems in improving land condition and carbon stocks is unclear despite frequent claims of beneficial effects (e.g., Alchin et al., 2010). In a recent study in Queensland's rangelands, Hall et al. (2011) found no consistent differences in vegetation or land condition between cell grazing and conventional continuous grazing, which suggests that soil carbon stocks would also have been similar between grazing systems. Likewise, Sanjari et al. (2008) found no change in soil carbon stocks after five years of cell grazing in south-eastern Queensland.

7.2.4. Wider considerations

The most important feature of carbon-biodiversity interactions in agricultural and rangeland landscapes is that they are only part of a larger picture. In particular, only interventions that are economically viable for landholders will make their way into practice. For example, while reductions in nitrogen losses from fertilisers are clearly desirable from greenhouse gas-mitigation and biodiversity perspectives, it is essential for enterprise sustainability that any reductions in production be more than offset by cost savings and carbon credits. At the other end of the scale, a shift from a ruminant-based to a kangaroo-based rangeland economy would clearly have major biodiversity and greenhouse gas-mitigation benefits (Table 2); but a carbon price of at least \$40/tonne CO₂-e (Wilson and Edwards, 2008), well above prices expected in the next decade, is required to make this proposal competitive with existing practices – even before applying a risk premium for the major social changes involved.

An important area of uncertainty, where careful analysis and research is needed, is to identify easily adoptable practices such as perennial plantings. For these interventions, greenhouse-gas mitigation or biodiversity benefits alone might be insufficient to motivate landholders to adopt them, but the combination could result in a viable case. In the specific case of perennial forage plantings, analysis will have to account for a trade-off between the greenhouse gas and biodiversity benefits obtainable from reduced stocking rates, and the associated loss of livestock production.

Evaluating the biodiversity consequences of greenhouse gas mitigations arising from changing agricultural practices will be complicated by the different temporal and spatial scales at which they operate. Some of the intermediate causes, such as changed fire regimes, will be relatively rapid. Others, such as provision of habitat for fauna, will take years or decades to develop, and other impacts such as changes in nitrogen fluxes in wetlands will affect entire catchments over time. In the rangelands in particular, our capacity to assess these consequences will be limited by inadequate long-term monitoring (Fitzhardinge, 2012) and the measurement problems caused by inherent spatial and temporal variability.

8. Feral animals

Methane is estimated to be responsible for about 20% of anthropogenic global warming and comes predominantly from fossil fuels (gas leakage), ruminant-animal digestion, and anaerobic vegetation decay (Forster et al., 2007). As a climate-forcing agent, methane is 25 times more powerful than carbon dioxide when its effect is integrated over a 100-year time horizon (Forster et al., 2007). Feral herbivores in Australia, like livestock, produce methane through fermentation and from the decomposition of manure. Large ruminant herbivores such as feral buffalo (Bubalus bubalis) and camels (Camelus dromedarius) produce the most methane per individual (up to \sim 50 kg CH₄ year⁻¹) (Table 2). Feral pigs (Sus scrofa), which are much more abundant than buffalo and camels (Hone, 1990a; Department of Sustainability, 2011b), produce up to 36% of all methane emissions from Australia's feral animals (Table 2). In total though, feral herbivores produce a little more than 5% of the methane produced from cattle and sheep in Australia (Table 2). In contrast, marsupial herbivores produce much less methane per unit body weight (Wilson and Edwards, 2008) (Table 2).

8.1. Changing feral animal management with carbon pricing

Carbon price-driven incentives will conceivably be made available to offset the costs of feral animal control in Australia, but given the relatively small contribution of their emissions relative to livestock (Table 2), efforts to limit the emission of methane from feral animals are not expected to mitigate global climate change relative to agricultural shifts; the main benefits of reducing feral species will be to native biodiversity (Table 3).

Under the Australian Government's Carbon Farming Initiative (Commonwealth of Australia, 2011), carbon credits are potentially claimable for: "Introduced animal emissions avoidance projects; projects that avoid emissions of methane from the digestive tract of an introduced animal or emissions of methane or nitrous oxide from the decomposition of introduced animal urine or dung". Importantly, a project for which carbon credits can be claimed must be demonstrated to go "... beyond common practice in the relevant industry" (i.e., to be additional) and be on an approved list of activities, which currently includes the "... reduction of

Table 3

Potential benefits to biodiversity (both native plant and animal communities) from reductions in introduced herbivore populations based on their well-documented negative impacts.

| Feral herbivore species | Negative impacts on native biodiversity |
|--|---|
| Camels (Camelus dromedarius) | Damage to native vegetation through feeding and trampling Suppression of recruitment in native plant species Damage to waterholes, wetlands and ephemeral rivers Competition with native fauna (Edwards et al., 2010) |
| Pigs (Sus scrofa) | Negative population-level effects on many plant, invertebrate and vertebrate prey consumed (e.g., northern snake-necked turtle) (Fordham et al., 2006; Bradshaw et al., 2007a; Fordham et al., 2008) Extensive digging causes erosion/siltation and decreases plant species richness (Hone, 2002; Bradshaw et al., 2007a) Weed dispersal (Bradshaw et al., 2007a) |
| Deer (Dama dama, Cervus elaphus, Axis axis, Hyelaphus porcinus, Cervus timorensis, Rusa unicolor) | • Changes in vegetation composition and density through seed dispersal of native and exotic species (Davis et al., 2010; Forsyth and Davis, 2011) |
| Goats (Capra hircus) | Browsing/grazing has negative impact on native vegetation composition and structure (Russell et al., 2011) Feeding habits decrease overall vegetation cover and hooves cause soil surface damage resulting in increased erosion (Russell et al., 2011) Competition with native fauna for food and habitat (Russell et al., 2011) |
| Buffalo (Bubalus bubalis) | Intensive feeding alters ground cover and plant diversity Damage water ways (erosion/saltwater intrusion) (Bradshaw et al., 2007a; Albrecht et al., 2009) |

methane emissions through the management, in a humane manner, of feral goats, feral deer, feral pigs or feral camels".

The one proposal made so far to reduce methane emissions from the control of feral herbivores in Australia addresses one of the largest emitters - camels (Northwest Carbon Pty Ltd., 2011). The growing population of camels in Australia is estimated to exceed a million individuals (Table 2); modelling suggests the production of $1.9 \text{ million t } \text{CO}_2\text{-e year}^{-1}$ from their methane emissions by 2020, after accounting for expected further population increase (Northwest Carbon Pty Ltd., 2011). Using a variety of control techniques and taking fuel, electricity and other sources of greenhouse gas emissions from the harvest operation into account, the proponents claim a net overall reduction in greenhouse gas emissions from camel culling, although the magnitude of the reduction to be achieved remains unclear. One concern is that low-level harvest might do little more than stimulate a densitydependent 'rebound', and not achieve real density reduction. For instance, Pople and McLeod (2010) estimated that >11,000 camels would have to be removed annually from the approximately 140,000 in the Northern Territory to begin reducing the population size.

8.2. Challenges to reducing emissions and advancing biodiversity conservation

Australian landscapes suffer from intense ecological damage from feral animals (Table 3), and large reductions in feral animal densities will benefit Australian ecosystems substantially (McLeod, 2004; Bradshaw et al., 2007a). However, to reduce greenhouse gas emissions simultaneously is a complex proposition that requires stringent cost-benefit analysis and assessment of logistical challenges prior to implementation. Given the relatively low contribution of methane from feral herbivores relative to cattle and sheep (Table 2), it is unlikely that the suppression of pig densities would greatly benefit Australia's ability to meet its greenhouse gas emission targets. Broad-scale control programs for feral pigs, particularly if they involve shooting from vehicles or aircraft (e.g., Hone, 1990b; Reddiex et al., 2006), can also result in substantial operational CO₂ emissions. Another issue not previously considered is the potential role large feral herbivores play in reducing fire severity via their consumption of vegetation 'fuel' loads (Bowman, 2012), even though the contributions to greenhouse gases via methane release is approximately ten times that occurring from fires (Cook et al., 2010) – clearly the feedbacks are complex. Compensatory responses in recruitment following lethal control of pigs can mean that control has a limited effect on either population growth rate or population density (Hanson et al., 2009). Further research is needed to ensure that reductions in feral animal numbers result in simultaneous reductions in net greenhouse gas emissions.

9. Discussion

Australia's largest potential greenhouse gas-mitigation activity using ecological processes rests in landscape-management interventions that enhance woody biomass. However, our review has highlighted many ways in which managing for carbon sequestration and emissions reductions can result in negative biodiversity outcomes. It is not unreasonable to suggest that current and likely future Australian policies covering woody biomass do not adequately explore the synergies between landscape carbon storage, biodiversity and resource use. Increasing pressure to exploit wood as a building material and energy source (Lippke et al., 2011; Ximenes et al., 2012) means that reforestation and afforestation could become more financially viable for many landholders. To benefit biodiversity while simultaneously providing the appropriate financial incentives, landscape-level biodiversity goals and management plans (including regional Natural Resource Management objectives) must be set in place before plantings proceed, although estimating the scale of realistic uptake would also require substantial economic modelling. The current gap in our understanding of the trade-offs between carbon sequestration and biodiversity requirements means that mutually beneficial outcomes of afforestation/ reforestation are not guaranteed. For example, the likely impact of changes to forestry management and uptake under the Carbon Farming Initiative requires dedicated economic analysis (Burns et al., 2011; Maraseni and Cockfield, 2011; Polglase et al., 2011). The Australian Government must therefore strive to support research that investigates these trade-offs for the maximum benefit to society, including ecological, sociological and economic analyses. This might include analyses based on decision theory to ensure integration of biodiversity conservation with emissions-abatement objectives.

Nonetheless, we conclude that most biodiversity-related enhancement schemes (including environmental plantings and invasive species reduction) can be compatible with carbon-sequestration initiatives, as long as biodiversity persistence is taken into account at the planning and implementation stages. Indeed, future conservation planning approaches will need to incorporate carbon sequestration/emissions abatement into their algorithms to optimise the simultaneous goals of biodiversity conservation and carbon mitigation. It is our opinion that, in most circumstances, the two goals are not mutually exclusive and indeed, can enhance components of the other. The careful amalgamation of such carbon-mitigation approaches with other incentive schemes such as biodiversity offsets (i.e., ensuring no net biodiversity loss via the protection of habitats as offsets for other areas cleared for development) will be required to ensure related negative outcomes do not arise (Bekessy et al., 2010). For instance, appropriate site selection, long-term monitoring and enforcement will be essential to ensure biodiversity improvement, or indeed, to avoid net loss (Kiesecker et al., 2009; Bekessy et al., 2010). In principle, we therefore support the implementation of financial mechanisms for the mitigation of carbon and enhancement of biodiversity, but only with the caveat that many potential loop-holes in Australian legislation that could lead to extensive negative outcomes for biodiversity must be identified and rectified. These include restrictions in regrowth management, incentives for planting solely for carbon sequestration (to the exclusion of biodiversity values) and the incentive to replace annuals with perennials in pastures without full consideration of their implications for biodiversity.

In addition to the direct intervention of planting forests to increase biomass, management of regrowth, fire, agriculture and feral animals might all play roles in greenhouse gas abatement. The potential role of some of these interventions is perhaps not well appreciated in relation to carbon sequestration, biodiversity or ecosystem comparisons (e.g., what might work in a temperate forest might be sub-optimal in tropical savannas). Clearly, effective greenhouse gas mitigation will require a multi-faceted approach from all land-use sectors to be successful. Of course, many uncertainties persist, including how different sectors respond to changes in emissions prices. It is difficult to anticipate or even model the corollaries of shifting prices to each sector, or whether thresholds exist where emissions pricing becomes functionally redundant for biodiversity maintenance. Another major consideration for the success of landscape carbon management is that a failure to stem global emissions arising largely from society's dependence on fossil fuels will mean that few net gains for biodiversity will be possible. It will be ultimately pointless to store carbon in the landscape if we do not reduce or remove this dependence to avoid the worst ravages of climate disruption on the Earth's biodiversity.

We have identified several gaps in our understanding that require more research or validation. For example, the contribution of land management practices to carbon dynamics in most of Australia – the arid and semi-arid centre – is still largely unquantified (Franklin et al., 2008). Much more research is required on the biodiversity and carbon roles of arid vegetation, its interface with pastoralism, and the role of fire (Fisher and Harris, 1999). Certainly, the most intriguing and possibly least-understood component of landscape carbon dynamics is the role of climate change itself (Hulme, 2005). Predicting forest resilience, agricultural trends, fire regime shifts, and the response of feral animals to a warming climate is in its infancy, so anticipating the effects on coupled carbon flux-biodiversity impacts is even less certain (Hoffmann et al., 2012). Other impacts, such as the potential for plantings to alter runoff, are perhaps better understood, but we still require careful regional-scale planning to avoid negative outcomes for biodiversity.

Finally, the essential component of measuring biodiversity, and the associated ecosystem services, effectively using meaningful metrics to determine the responses to landscape-scale changes remains a major challenge. Remote sensing and other broad-scale approaches are constantly improving, but we are still a long way from consensus and standardisation (Jones et al., 2011) despite recent progress in the measurement of ecosystem services (Kapambwe and Keenan, 2009; The Economics of Ecosystems and Biodiversity, 2010; Perrings et al., 2011). This inconsistency contrasts starkly with the elements of carbon-accounting and mitigation methodologies that require strict validation at the biological, physical, economic and political levels. We need to bring biodiversity and ecosystem services 'accounting' into a similar framework to avoid perversions in the name of emissions mitigation, even though it is generally agreed that measuring and valuing biodiversity is substantially more difficult, expensive and uncertain.

Acknowledgements

Funded by the Australian Centre for Ecological Analysis and Synthesis (www.aceas.org.au; a Terrestrial Ecosystem Research Network initiative). C.J.A. Bradshaw took the lead in writing the paper, with N.R. Bond (plantations), R. Thackway (regrowth), B.P. Murphy (fire), D.M.J.S. Bowman (forestry), A.D. Moore (agriculture) and D.A. Fordham (feral animals) taking responsibility for individual sections. All other authors contributed to single or multiple sections and helped edit the manuscript. A. Andersen and G. Cooke (CSIRO) provided valuable suggestions for improvement.

Appendix A. Supplementary material

Supplementary data associated with this article can be found, in the online version, at http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2013. 02.012.

References

- Albrecht, G.A., McMahon, C.R., Bowman, D.M.J.S., Bradshaw, C.J.A., 2009. Convergence of culture, ecology and ethics: management of feral swamp buffalo in northern Australia. J. Agric. Environ. Ethics 22, 361–378.
- Alchin, M., Tierney, E., Chilcott, C., 2010. An Evaluation of the Opportunity and Risks of Carbon Offset Based Enterprises in the Kimberley-Pilbara Region of Western Australia. Carbon Capture Project Final Report. Bulletin 4801, Western Australia Department of Agriculture and Food, Perth. http://www.agric.wa.gov.au/ objtwr/imported_assets/content/lwe/rpm/landup/carbonreport2010.pdf>.
- Andersen, A.N., Woinarski, J.C.Z., Parr, C.L., 2012. Savanna burning for biodiversity: fire management for faunal conservation in Australian tropical savannas. Austral. Ecol. 37, 658–667.
- Archibald, S., 2011. Book review: culture, ecology and economy of fire management in north Australian savannas: rekindling the Wurrk tradition. Afric. J. Range Forage Sci. 28, 47–49.
- Ash, A.J., Howden, S.M., McIvor, J.G., 1995. Improved rangeland management and its implications for carbon sequestration. Proceedings of the 5th International Rangleand Congress. Society for Range Management, Denver, Salt Lake City, pp. 19–20.
- Ashton, D.H., 1981. Tall open-forests. In: Groves, R.H. (Ed.), Australian Vegetation. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, pp. 121–151.
- Atyeo, C., Thackway, R., 2009. Mapping and monitoring revegetation activities in Australia – towards national core attributes. Austral. J. Environ. Manage. 16, 140–148.
- Australian Government, 2012a. Carbon Farming (Reduction of Greenhouse Gas Emissions through Early Dry Season Savanna Burning) Methodology Determination 2012. Climate Change and Energy Efficiency, Canberra. http://www.comlaw.gov.au/Details/F2012L01499>.
- Australian Government, 2012b. Fact Sheet. Forest Activities, Clean Energy Future, Canberra. http://www.cleanenergyfuture.gov.au/wp-content/uploads/2011/ 07/fact-sheet-21-forrest-activities.pdf>.
- Beier, P., Majka, D.R., Spencer, W.D., 2008. Forks in the road: choices in procedures for designing wildland linkages. Conserv. Biol. 22, 836–851.
- Bekessy, S.A., Wintle, B.A., 2008. Using carbon investment to grow the biodiversity bank. Conserv. Biol. 22, 510–513.
- Bekessy, S.A., Wintle, B.A., Lindenmayer, D.B., McCarthy, M.A., Colyvan, M., Burgman, M.A., Possingham, H.P., 2010. The biodiversity bank cannot be a lending bank. Conserv. Lett. 3, 151–158.
- Bond, N.R., Lake, P.S., 2004. Disturbance regimes and stream restoration: the importance of restoring refugia. In: Fourth Australian Stream Management Conference. Cooperative Research Centre for Catchment Hydrology, Launceston, Tasmania, pp. 90–94.
- Bond, W.J., Parr, C.L., 2010. Beyond the forest edge: ecology, diversity and conservation of the grassy biomes. Biol. Conserv. 143, 2395–2404.

Boulton, A.J., Hancock, P.J., 2006. Rivers as groundwater-dependent ecosystems: a review of degrees of dependency, riverine processes and management implications. Aust. J. Bot. 54, 133-144.

Bowman, D., 2012. Conservation: bring elephants to Australia? Nature 482, 30.

- Bowman, D.M.J.S., Murphy, B.P., Boer, M.M., Bradstock, R.A., Cary, G.J., Cochrane, M.A., Fensham, R.J., Krawchuk, M.A., Price, O.F., Williams, R.J., 2013. Forest fire management, climate change and the risk of catastrophic carbon losses. Front. Ecol. Environ. 11, 66-68.
- Bradshaw, C.J.A., 2012. Little left to lose: deforestation and forest degradation in Australia since European colonization. J. Plant Ecol. 5, 109-120.
- Bradshaw, C.J.A., Field, I.C., Bowman, D.M.J.S., Haynes, C., Brook, B.W., 2007a. Current and future threats from non-indigenous animal species in northern Australia: a spotlight on World Heritage Area Kakadu National Park. Wildl. Res. 34, 419-436.
- Bradshaw, C.J.A., Sodhi, N.S., Peh, K.S.H., Brook, B.W., 2007b. Global evidence that deforestation amplifies flood risk and severity in the developing world. Glob. Change Biol. 13, 2379-2395.
- Bradshaw, C.J.A., Sodhi, N.S., Brook, B.W., 2009. Tropical turmoil a biodiversity tragedy in progress. Front. Ecol. Environ. 7, 79-87.
- Bradstock, R.A., Boer, M.M., Cary, G.J., Price, O.F., Williams, R.J., Barrett, D.J., Cook, G.D., Gill, A.M., Hutley, L.B., Keith, H., Maier, S.W., Meyer, M., Roxburgh, S.H., Russell-Smtih, J., 2012. Modelling the potential for prescribed burning to mitigate carbon emissions from wildfires in fire-prone forests of Australia. Int. J. Wildl. Fire 21, 629-639.
- Bremer, L., Farley, K., 2010. Does plantation forestry restore biodiversity or create green deserts? A synthesis of the effects of land-use transitions on plant species richness. Biodivers. Conserv. 19, 3893-3915.
- Bridle, K., Fitzgerald, M., Green, D., Smith, J., McQuillan, P., Lefroy, T., 2009. Relationships between site characteristics, farming system and biodiversity on Australian mixed farms. Anim. Prod. Sci. 49, 869-882.
- Brockerhoff, E., Jactel, H., Parrotta, J., Quine, C., Sayer, J., 2008. Plantation forests and biodiversity: oxymoron or opportunity? Biodivers. Conserv. 17, 925-951.
- Burns, K., Hug, B., Lawson, K., Ahammad, H., Zhang, K., 2011. Abatement Potential From Reforestation Under Selected Carbon Price Scenarios. ABARES Special Report. Australian Bureau of Agriculture and Resource Economics and Sciences, Canberra. <http://archive.treasury.gov.au/carbonpricemodelling/content/ consultants_reports/ABARES_Abatement_potential_from_reforestation_under_ selected_carbon_price_scenarios.pdf>.
- Burrows, W.H., Henry, B.K., Back, P.V., Hoffmann, M.B., Tait, L.J., Anderson, E.R., Menke, N., Danaher, T., Carter, J.O., McKeon, G.M., 2002. Growth and carbon stock change in eucalypt woodlands in northeast Australia: ecological and greenhouse sink implications. Glob. Change Biol. 8, 769-784.
- Caccamo, G., Chisholm, L.A., Bradstock, R.A., Puotinen, M.L., 2012. Using remotelysensed fuel connectivity patterns as a tool for fire danger monitoring. Geophys. Res. Lett. 39, L01302.
- Campbell, J.L., Harmon, M.E., Mitchell, S.R., 2011. Can fuel-reduction treatments really increase forest carbon storage in the western US by reducing future fire emissions? Front. Ecol. Environ. 10, 83-90.
- Carvalheiro, L.G., Veldtman, R., Shenkute, A.G., Tesfay, G.B., Pirk, C.W.W., Donaldson, J.S., Nicolson, S.W., 2011. Natural and within-farmland biodiversity enhances crop productivity. Ecol. Lett. 14, 251–259.
- Chan, K.Y., Oates, A., Li, G.D., Conyers, M.K., Prangnell, R.J., Poile, G., Liu, D.L., Barchia, I.M., 2010. Soil carbon stocks under different pastures and pasture management in the higher rainfall areas of south-eastern Australia. Soil Res. 48, 7-15.
- Clarke, P.J., Latz, P.K., Albrecht, D.E., 2005. Long-term changes in semi-arid vegetation: invasion of an exotic perennial grass has larger effects than rainfall variability. J. Veg. Sci. 16, 237–248. Collard, S.J., Fisher, A.M., McKenna, D.J., 2011. Planted saltbush (*Atriplex*
- nummularia) and its value for birds in farming landscapes of the South Australian Murray Mallee. Ecol. Manage. Restor. 12, 37-45.
- Commonwealth of Australia, 2011. Clean Energy (Consequential Amendments) Act 2011 - C2011A00132. Department of Climate Change and Energy Efficiency, Canberra, Australia. <http://www.comlaw.gov.au/Details/C2011A00132>.
- Cook, G.D., Meyer, C.P., 2009. Fire, fuels and greenhouse gases. In: Russell-Smith, J., Whitehead, P.J., Cooke, P.M. (Eds.), Culture, Ecology and Economy of Fire Management in North Australian Savannas: Rekindling the Wurrk Tradition. CSIRO Publishing, Collingwood, Victoria, pp. 313–328. Cook, G.D., Williams, R.J., Stokes, C.J., Hutley, L.B., Ash, A.J., Richards, A.E., 2010.
- Managing sources and sinks of greenhouse gases in Australia's rangelands and tropical savannas. Rangel. Ecol. Manage. 63, 137-146.
- Costanza, R., d'Arge, R., de Groot, R., Farber, S., Grasso, M., Hannon, B., Limburg, K., Naeem, S., O'Neill, R.V., Paruelo, J., Raksin, R.G., Sutton, P., van den Belt, M., 1997. The value of the world's ecosystem services and natural capital. Nature 387, 253-260.
- Crossman, N.D., Bryan, B.A., Summers, D.M., 2011. Carbon payments and low-cost conservation. Conserv. Biol. 25, 835-845.
- Daily, G.C., 1997. Nature's Services. Island Press, Washington, DC.
- Dalal, R.C., Wang, W., Robertson, G.P., Parton, W.J., 2003. Nitrous oxide emission from Australian agricultural lands and mitigation options: a review. Soil Res. 41, 165-195
- Davis, N., Forsyth, D., Coulson, G., 2010. Facilitative interactions between an exotic mammal and native and exotic plants: hog deer (Axis porcinus) as seed dispersers in south-eastern Australia. Biol. Invas. 12, 1079-1092.
- Dean, C., 2011. Comment on "Carbon in trees in Tasmanian State Forest". Int. J. Forest. Res. (article 212361).

- Dean, C., Wardell-Johnson, G.W., Kirkpatrick, J.B., 2012. Are there any circumstances in which logging primary wet-eucalypt forest will not add to the global carbon burden? Agric. For. Meteorol. 161, 156-169.
- Department of Climate Change and Energy Efficiency, 2010a. Australian National Greenhouse Accounts: National Inventory Report 2008. Australian Government, Canberra.
- Department of Climate Change and Energy Efficiency, 2010b. What Activities are Covered by the Carbon Farming Initiative?. Commonwealth Government of Australia, Canberra, Australia. <http://www.climatechange.gov.au/government/ initiatives/carbon-farming-initiative/handbook/credits.aspx>.
- Department of Climate Change and Energy Efficiency, 2011 Draft Methodology for Environmental Plantings: Version 0.5. Australian Government, Canberra.
- Department of Sustainability, Environment, Water, Population and Communities, 2011a. The Feral Goat (Capra hircus). Invasive Species Fact Sheet, Canberra. <http://www.environment.gov.au/biodiversity/invasive/publications/feralgoat.html>.
- Department of Sustainability, Environment, Water, Population and Communities, 2011b. The Feral Pig (Sus scrofa). Invasive Species Fact Sheet, Canberra. < http:// www.environment.gov.au/biodiversity/invasive/publications/pig.html>
- Department of the Environment and Heritage, 2005. Threat Abatement Plan for Predation, Habitat Degradation, Competition and Disease Transmission by Feral <http://www.environment.gov.au/biodiversity/threatened/ Pigs. Canberra. publications/tap/pig.html>.
- Dorrough, J., Moxham, C., 2005. Eucalypt establishment in agricultural landscapes and implications for landscape-scale restoration. Biol. Conserv. 123, 55-66.
- Dorrough, J., Scroggie, M.P., 2008. Plant responses to agricultural intensification. J. Appl. Ecol. 45, 1274-1283.
- Dwyer, J.M., Fensham, R.J., Butler, D.W., Buckley, Y.M., 2009. Carbon for conservation: assessing the potential for win-win investment in an extensive Australian regrowth ecosystem. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 134, 1-7.
- Eady, S., Grundy, M., Battaglia, M., Keating, B., 2009. An Analysis of Greenhouse Gas Mitigation and Carbon Sequestration Opportunities from Rural Land Use, CSIRO, St. Lucia, Queensland. < http://www.csiro.au/en/Outcomes/Climate/Reducing-GHG/carbon-and-rural-land-use-report.aspx>.
- Edwards, G.P., Zeng, B., Saalfeld, W.K., Vaarzon-Morel, P., 2010. Evaluation of the impacts of feral camels. Rangel. J. 32, 43–54.
- Eyre, T.J., Wang, J., Venz, M.F., Chilcott, C., Whish, G., 2009. Buffel grass in Queensland's semi-arid woodlands: response to local and landscape scale variables, and relationship with grass, forb and reptile species. Rangel. J. 31, 293-305.
- Fahey, T.J., Woodbury, P.B., Battles, J.J., Goodale, C.L., Hamburg, S.P., Ollinger, S.V., Woodall, C.W., 2009. Forest carbon storage: ecology, management, and policy. Front. Ecol. Environ. 8, 245-252.
- Fairfax, R.J., Fensham, R.J., 2000. The effect of exotic pasture development on floristic diversity in central Queensland, Australia. Biol. Conserv. 94, 11-21.
- Fensham, R.J., Guymer, G.P., 2009. Carbon accumulation through ecosystem recovery. Environ. Sci. Policy 12, 367-372.
- Ferguson, I., Cheney, P., 2011. Wildfires, not logging, cause landscape traps. Aust. Forest. 74, 362-365.
- Ferretti, A.R., de Britez, R.M., 2006. Ecological restoration, carbon sequestration and biodiversity conservation: the experience of the Society for Wildlife Research and Environmental Education (SPVS) in the Atlantic Rain Forest of Southern Brazil, I. Nat. Conserv. 14, 249-259.
- Fischer, J., Stott, J., Zerger, A., Warren, G., Sherren, K., Forrester, R.I., 2009. Reversing a tree regeneration crisis in an endangered ecoregion. Proc. Natl.Acad. Sci. USA 106, 10386-10391.
- Fisher, A.M., Harris, S.J., 1999. The dynamics of tree cover change in a rural Australian landscape. Landsc. Urban Plann. 45, 193–207.
- Fisher, D.O., Blomberg, S.P., Owens, I.P.F., 2003. Extrinsic versus intrinsic factors in the decline and extinction of Australian marsupials. Proc. Roy. Soc. B 270, 1801-1808
- Fitzhardinge, G., 2012. Australia's rangelands: a future vision. Rangel. J. 34, 33-45.
- Fordham, D., Georges, A., Corey, B., Brook, B.W., 2006. Feral pig predation threatens the indigenous harvest and local persistence of snake-necked turtles in northern Australia. Biol. Conserv. 133, 379-388.
- Fordham, D.A., Georges, A., Brook, B.W., 2008. Indigenous harvest, exotic pig predation and local persistence of a long-lived vertebrate: managing a tropical freshwater turtle for sustainability and conservation. J. Appl. Ecol. 45, 52–62.
- Forrester, D.I., Bauhus, J., Cowie, A.L., Vanclay, J.K., 2006. Mixed-species plantations of Eucalyptus with nitrogen-fixing trees: a review. For. Ecol. Manage. 233, 211-230
- Forster, P., Ramaswamy, V., Artaxo, P., Berntsen, T., Betts, R., Fahey, D.W., Haywood, J., Lean, J., Lowe, D.C., Myhre, G., Nganga, J., Prinn, R., Raga, G., Schulz, M., Van Dorland, R., 2007. Changes in atmospheric constituents and in radiative forcing. In: Solomon, S., Qin, D., Manning, M., Chen, Z., Marquis, M., Averyt, K.B., Tignor, M., Miller, H.L. (Eds.), Climate Change 2007: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA.
- Forsyth, D.M., Davis, N.E., 2011. Diets of non-native deer in Australia estimated by macroscopic versus microhistological rumen analysis. J. Wildl. Manage. 75, 1488-1497.
- Franklin, D.C., Whitehead, P.J., Pardon, G., Matthews, J., McMahon, P., McIntyre, D., 2005. Geographic patterns and correlates of the decline of granivorous birds in northern Australia. Wildl. Res. 32, 399-408.

- Franklin, D., Petty, A., Williamson, G., Brook, B., Bowman, D., 2008. Monitoring contrasting land management in the savanna landscapes of northern Australia. Environ. Manage. 41, 501–515.
- Franz, R., Soliva, C.R., Kreuzer, M., Hummel, J., Clauss, M., 2011. Methane output of rabbits (*Oryctolagus cuniculus*) and guinea pigs (*Cavia porcellus*) fed a hay-only diet: implications for the scaling of methane production with body mass in non-ruminant mammalian herbivores. Comparat. Biochem. Physiol. A 158, 177–181.
- George, S.J., Harper, R.J., Hobbs, R.J., Tibbett, M., 2012. A sustainable agricultural landscape for Australia: a review of interlacing carbon sequestration, biodiversity and salinity management in agroforestry systems. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 163, 28–36.
- Green, S., 2010. Buffel Grass Invasion and the Decline of the Bridled Nailtail Wallaby. The University of Queensland, St. Lucia, Queensland.
- Grigg, G., 1989. Kangaroo harvesting and the conservation of arid and semi-arid rangelands. Conserv. Biol. 3, 194–197.
- Grimbacher, P., 2011. Biodiversity Outcomes from Eucalypt Plantation Expansion into Agricultural Landscapes of Southern Australia: A Review. Technical Report 215, Cooperative Research Centre for Forestry, Hobart, Tasmania. http://www.crcforestry.com.au/publications/downloads/TR215-Grimbacher.pdf>.
- Hall, T.J., McIvor, J., Jones, P., MacLeod, N., McDonald, C., Reid, D., Smith, D., Delaney, K., 2011. Investigating Intensive Grazing Systems in Northern Australia: vol. I. Final Project Report B.NBP.0353, Meat and Livestock Australia Limited, North Sydney. <a href="http://www.mla.com.au/CustomControls/PaymentGateway/ViewFile.aspx?GYuXINalmke0hkUGMDR0Hq7ke55w29oGRr/R/ViewFile.aspx?GYuXINalmke0hkUGMDR0Hq7ke55w290GRr/R/ViewFile.aspx?GYUXINAlmke0hkUGMDR0Hq7ke55w290GRr/R/ViewFile.aspx?GYUXINAlmke0hkUGMDR0Hq7ke55w290GRr/R/ViewFile.aspx?GYUXINAlmke0hkUGMDR0Hq7ke55w290GRr/R/ViewFile.aspx?GYUXINAlmke0hkUGMDR0Hq7ke55w290GRr/R/ViewFile.aspx?GYUXINAlmke0hkUGMDR0Hq7ke55w290GRr/R/ViewFile.aspx?GYUXINAlmke0hkUGMDR0Hq7ke55w290GRr/R/ViewFile.aspx?GYUXINAlmke0hkUGMDR0Hq7ke55w290GRr/R/ViewFile.aspx?GYUXINAlmke0hkUGMDR0Hq7ke55w290GRr/R/ViewFile.aspx?GYUXINAlmke0hkUGMDR0Hq7ke55w290GRr/R/ViewFile.aspx?GYUXINAlmke0hkUGMDR0Hq7ke55w290GRr/R/ViewFile.aspx?GYUXINAlmke0hkUGMDR0Hq7ke55w290GRr/R/ViewFile.aspx?GYUXINAlmke0hkUGMDR0Hq7ke55w290Krr/R/ViewFile.aspx?GYUXINAlmke0hkUGMDR0Hq7ke55w29

qg3AoJsOM005VLFzKnPrSxthKQT3EYMKKAfsht7d1Tnt3BqiA==>.

- Hansen, B., Reich, P., Lake., P.S., 2010. Minimum Width Requirements for Riparian Zones to Protect Flowing Waters and to Conserve Biodiversity: A Review and Recommendations. Victoria Department of Sustainability and Environment, Melbourne. http://www.ccmaknowledgebase.vic.gov.au/resources/ RiparianBuffers_Report_Hansenetal2010.pdf>.
- Hanson, L.B., Mitchell, M.S., Grand, J.B., Jolley, D.B., Sparklin, B.D., Ditchkoff, S.S., 2009. Effect of experimental manipulation on survival and recruitment of feral pigs. Wildl. Res. 36, 185–191.
- Harmon, M.E., Ferrell, W.K., Franklin, J.F., 1990. Effects on carbon storage of conversion of old-growth forests to young forests. Science 247, 699–702.
- Harris, G.P., 2001. Biogeochemistry of nitrogen and phosphorus in Australian catchments, rivers and estuaries: effects of land use and flow regulation and comparisons with global patterns. Mar. Freshw. Res. 52, 139–149.
- Hartley, M.J., 2002. Rationale and methods for conserving biodiversity in plantation forests. For. Ecol. Manage. 155, 81–95.
- Hatton, T., Cork, S., Harper, P., Joy, R., Kanowski, P.P., Mackay, R., McKenzie, N., Ward, T., Wienecke, B., 2011. State of the Environment 2011. Australian Department of Sustainability, Environment, Water, Population and Communities, Canberra. http://www.environment.gov.au/soe/2011/index.html.
- Heckbert, S., Russell-Smith, J., Reeson, A., Davies, J., James, G., Meyer, C., 2012. Spatially explicit benefit-cost analysis of fire management for greenhouse gas abatement. Austral. Ecol. 37, 724–732.
- Henry, B., Charmley, E., Eckard, R.J., Gaughan, J.B., Hegarty, R.S., 2012. Livestock production in a changing climate: adaptation and mitigation research in Australia. Crop Past. Sci. 63, 191–202.
- Hickey, J., Neyland, M., Bassett, O., 2001. Rationale and design for the warra silvicultural systems trial in wet eucalyptus obliqua forests in Tasmania. Tasforests 13.
- Hoehn, P., Tscharntke, T., Tylianakis, J.M., Steffan-Dewenter, I., 2008. Functional group diversity of bee pollinators increases crop yield. Proc. Roy. Soc. B 275, 2283–2291.
- Hoffmann, W.A., Geiger, E.L., Gotsch, S.G., Rossatto, D.R., Silva, L.C.R., Lau, O.L., Haridasan, M., Franco, A.C., 2012. Ecological thresholds at the savanna-forest boundary: how plant traits, resources and fire govern the distribution of tropical biomes. Ecol. Lett. 15, 759–768.
- Holland, J.M., 2004. The environmental consequences of adopting conservation tillage in Europe: reviewing the evidence. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 103, 1–25.
- Hone, J., 1990a. How many feral pigs in Australia. Wildl. Res. 17, 571–572.
- Hone, J., 1990b. Predator-prey theory and feral pig control, with emphasis on evaluation of shooting from a helicopter. Aust. Wildl. Res. 17, 123–130.
- Hone, J., 2002. Feral pigs in Namadgi National Park, Australia: dynamics, impacts and management. Biol. Conserv. 105, 231–242.
- Howden, S.M., Moore, J.L., McKeon, G.M., Carter, J.O., 2001. Global change and the mulga woodlands of southwest Queensland: greenhouse gas emissions, impacts, and adaptation. Environ. Int. 27, 161–166.
- Hulme, P.E., 2005. Adapting to climate change: is there scope for ecological management in the face of a global threat? J. Appl. Ecol. 42, 784–794.
- Hurteau, M.D., Brooks, M.L., 2011. Short- and long-term effects of fire on carbon in US dry temperate forest systems. Bioscience 61, 139–146.
- Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, 2007. Climate Change 2007: Synthesis Report. Contribution of Working Groups I, II and III to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, Geneva, Switzerland. http://www.ipcc.ch.
- Jackson, W.D., 1968. Fire, air, water and earth an elemental ecology of Tasmania. Proc. Ecol. Soc. Aust. 3, 9–16.
- Jackson, J., 2005. Is there a relationship between herbaceous species richness and buffel grass (*Cenchrus ciliaris*)? Austral. Ecol. 30, 505–517.
- Jackson, R.B., Jobbágy, E.G., Avissar, R., Roy, S.B., Barrett, D.J., Cook, C.W., Farley, K.A., le Maitre, D.C., McCarl, B.A., Murray, B.C., 2005. Trading water for carbon with biological carbon sequestration. Science 310, 1944–1947.

- Jayasuriya, M.D.A., Dunn, G., Benyon, R., O'Shaughnessy, P.J., 1993. Some factors affecting water yield from mountain ash (*Eucalyptus regnans*) dominated forests in south-east Australia. J. Hydrol. 150, 345–367.
- Johnson, C.N., 2006. Australia's Mammal Extinctions: A 50000 Year History. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom.
- Johnson, C.N., Isaac, J.L., Fisher, D.O., 2007. Rarity of a top predator triggers continent-wide collapse of mammal prey: dingoes and marsupials in Australia. Proc. Roy. Soc. B 274, 341–346.
- Johnston, F.H., Kavanagh, A.M., Bowman, D.M.J.S., Scott, R.K., 2002. Exposure to bushfire smoke and asthma: an ecological study. Med. J. Aust. 176, 535–538.
- Jones, J.P.G., Collen, B.E.N., Atkinson, G., Baxter, P.W.J., Bubb, P., Illian, J.B., Katzner, T.E., Keane, A., Loh, J., McDonald-Madden, E.V.E., Nicholson, E., Pereira, H.M., Possingham, H.P., Pullin, A.S., Rodrigues, A.S.L., Ruiz-Gutierrez, V., Sommerville, M., Milner-Gulland, E.J., 2011. The why, what, and how of global biodiversity indicators beyond the 2010 target. Conserv. Biol. 25, 450–457.
- Kapambwe, M., Keenan, R., 2009. Biodiversity Outcomes from Carbon Biosequestration, Victoria Department of Sustainability and Environment, Melbourne. http://www.dpi.vic.gov.au.
- Kavanagh, R., Law, B., Lemckert, F., Stanton, M., Chidel, M., Brassil, T., Towerton, A., Herring, M., 2005. Biodiversity in Eucalypt Plantings Established to Reduce Salinity. A Report for the RIRDC/Land & Water Australia FWPRDC/MDBC Joint Venture Agroforestry Program, Rural Industries Research and Development Corporation, Canberra, Australia. http://rirdc.infoservices.com.au/downloads/ 05-165.pdf.
- Kavanagh, R., Law, B., Lemckert, F., Stanton, M., Chidel, M., Brassil, T., Towerton, A., Penman, T., 2010. Conservation Value of Eucalypt Plantations Established for Wood Production and Multiple Environmental Benefits in Agricultural Landscapes. Final Report for NAP/NHT2 Eucalypt Plantations project. SLA 0013, R3 NAP, Industry & Investment NSW, Forest Science Centre, West Pennant Hills, NSW, Australia. <htp://www.dpi.nsw.gov.au/research/areas/fre/ scientific-outputs/2010/1641>.
- Keith, H., Mackey, B.G., Lindenmayer, D.B., 2009. Re-evaluation of forest biomass carbon stocks and lessons from the world's most carbon-dense forests. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 106, 11635–11640.
- Kemp, D.R., King, W.M., Gilmour, A.R., Lodge, G.M., Murphy, S.R., Quigley, P.E., Sanford, P., Andrew, M.H., 2003. SGS biodiversity theme: impact of plant biodiversity on the productivity and stability of grazing systems across southern Australia. Aust. J. Exp. Agric. 43, 961–975.
- Kempton, T.J., Murray, R.M., Leng, R.A., 1976. Methane production and digestibility measurements in the grey kangaroos and sheep. Aust. J. Biol. Sci. 29, 209–214.
- Khodadad, C.L.M., Zimmerman, A.R., Green, S.J., Uthandi, S., Foster, J.S., 2011. Taxaspecific changes in soil microbial community composition induced by pyrogenic carbon amendments. Soil Biol. Biochem. 43, 385–392.
- Kiesecker, J.M., Copeland, H., Pocewicz, A., Nibbelink, N., McKenney, B., Dahlke, J., Holloran, M., Stroud, D., 2009. A framework for implementing biodiversity offsets: selecting sites and determining scale. Bioscience 59, 77–84.
- Kirby, K.R., Potvin, C., 2007. Variation in carbon storage among tree species: implications for the management of a small-scale carbon sink project. For. Ecol. Manage. 246, 208–221.
- Kirkby, C.A., Kirkegaard, J.A., Richardson, A.E., Wade, L.J., Blanchard, C., Batten, G., 2011. Stable soil organic matter: a comparison of C:N:P:S ratios in Australian and other world soils. Geoderma 163, 197–208.
- Koh, L.P., Wilcove, D.S., 2009. Oil palm: disinformation enables deforestation. Trends Ecol. Evol. 24, 67–68.
- Koh, L.P., Lee, T.M., Sodhi, N.S., Ghazoul, J., 2010. An overhaul of the species-area approach for predicting biodiversity loss: incorporating matrix and edge effects. J. Appl. Ecol. 47, 1063–1070.
- Lake, P.S., 2011. Drought and Aquatic Ecosystems: Effects and Responses. Wiley-Blackwell, Chichester, United Kingdom.
- Lande, R., 1993. Risks of population extinction from demographic and environmental stochasticity, and random catastrophes. Am. Nat. 142, 911–927.
- Landsberg, J., Wylie, F., 1988. Dieback of rural trees in Australia. GeoJournal 17, 231–237.
- Lane, P., Best, A., Hickel, K., Zhang, L., 2003. The Effect of Afforestation on Flow Duration Curves. Technical Report 03/13, Cooperative Research Centre for Catchment Hydrology, Melbourne, Australia. http://www.catchment.crc.org.au/pdfs/technical200313.pdf>.
- Laurance, W.F., Curran, T.J., 2008. Impacts of wind disturbance on fragmented tropical forests: a review and synthesis. Austral. Ecol. 33, 399–408.
- Law, B.S., Chidel, M., Penman, T., 2011. Do young eucalypt plantations benefit bats in an intensive agricultural landscape? Wildl. Res. 38, 173–187.
- Lefroy, E.C., Dann, P.R., Wildin, J.H., Wesley-Smith, R.N., McGowan, A.A., 1992. Trees and shrubs as sources of fodder in Australia. Agrofor. Syst. 20, 117–139.
- Legge, S., Kennedy, M.S., Lloyd, R.A.Y., Murphy, S.A., Fisher, A., 2011. Rapid recovery of mammal fauna in the central Kimberley, northern Australia, following the removal of introduced herbivores. Austral. Ecol. 36, 791–799.
- Leys, J., Smith, J., MacRae, C., Rickards, J., Yang, X., Randall, L., Hairsine, P., Dixon, J., McTainsh, G., 2009. Improving the Capacity to Monitor Wind and Water Erosion: A Review, Department of Agriculture, Food and Forestry, Canberra. http://nrmonline.nrm.gov.au/catalog/mql:2243>.
- Lindenmayer, D., McCarthy, M.A., 2002. Congruence between natural and human forest disturbance: a case study from Australian montane ash forests. For. Ecol. Manage, 155, 319–335.
- Lindenmayer, D.B., Hobbs, R.J., Likens, G.E., Krebs, C.J., Banks, S.C., 2011. Newly discovered landscape traps produce regime shifts in wet forests. Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. USA 108, 15887–15891.

- Lindenmayer, D.B., Hulvey, K.B., Hobbs, R.J., Colyvan, M., Felton, A., Possingham, H., Steffen, W., Wilson, K., Youngentob, K., Gibbons, P., 2012. Avoiding bioperversity from carbon sequestration solutions. Conserv. Lett. 5, 28–36.
- Lippke, B., Oneil, E., Harrison, R., Skog, K., Gustavsson, L., Sathre, R., 2011. Life cycle impacts of forest management and wood utilization on carbon mitigation: knowns and unknowns. Carbon Manage. 2, 303–333.
- Luyssaert, S., Schulze, E., Borner, A., Knohl, A., Hessenmoller, D., Law, B., 2008. Oldgrowth forests as global carbon sinks. Nature 455, 213–215.
- Mackey, B.G., Keith, H., Berry, S., Lindenmayer, D.B., 2008. Green Carbon: The Role of Natural Forests in Carbon Storage. The Australian National University, Canberra. http://epress.anu.edu.au/titles/green-carbon>.
- Mactaggart, B., Bauer, J., Goldney, D., Rawson, A., 2006. The restoration and protection of the swampy meadow within an agricultural landscape. Aust. Farm Bus. Manage. J. 3, 68–75.
- Madsen, J., Bertelsen, M.F., 2012. Methane production by red-necked wallabies (*Macropus rufogriseus*). J. Anim. Sci. 90, 1364–1370.
- Maraseni, T.N., Cockfield, G., 2011. Crops, cows or timber? Including carbon values in land use choices. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 140, 280–288.
- Martínez-Garza, C., Howe, H.F., 2003. Restoring tropical diversity: beating the time tax on species loss. J. Appl. Ecol. 40, 423–429.
- McAlpine, C., Maron, M., Smith, G.C., Bowen, M., Seabrook, L., Dwyer, J., Butler, S., Graham, C., Goulding, W., 2011. Conserving Biodiversity in Brigalow Landscapes. The University of Queensland, Brisbane, Queensland. http://www.gpem.uq.edu.au/docs/Brigalow/ConservingBrigalowLandscapesl.pdf>.
- McCarthy, M.A., Malcolm Gill, A., Lindenmayer, D.B., 1999. Fire regimes in mountain ash forest: evidence from forest age structure, extinction models and wildlife habitat. For. Ecol. Manage. 124, 193–203.
- McDowall, M.M., Hall, D.J.M., Johnson, D.A., Bowyer, J., Spicer, P., 2003. Kikuyu and annual pasture: a characterisation of a productive and sustainable beef production system on the South Coast of Western Australia. Aust. J. Exp. Agric, 43, 769–783.
- McIntyre, S., Hobbs, R.J., 1999. A framework for conceptualizing human impacts on landscapes and its relevance to management and research models. Conserv. Biol. 13, 1282–1292.
- McLeod, R., 2004. Counting the Cost: Impact of Invasive Animals in Australia 2004. Cooperative Research Centre for Pest Animal Control, Canberra. http://www.feral.org.au/counting-the-cost-impact-of-invasive-animals-in-australia-2004/>.
- Miller, G., Friedel, M., Adam, P., Chewings, V., 2010. Ecological impacts of buffel grass (*Cenchrus ciliaris* L.) invasion in central Australia – does field evidence support a fire-invasion feedback? Rangel. J. 32, 353–365.
- Mitchell, C.D., Harper, R.J., Keenan, R.J., 2012. Current status and future prospects for carbon forestry in Australia. Aust. Forest. 75, 200–212.
- Monjardino, M., Revell, D., Panell, D.J., 2009. The potential of forage shrubs to economic returns and environmental management in Australian dryland agricultural systems. In: International Association of Agricultural Economists Conference, Beijing, China.
- Moroni, M.T., 2012. Aspects of forest carbon management in Australia a discussion paper. For. Ecol. Manage. 275, 111–116.
- Moroni, M.T., Kelley, T.H., McLarin, M.L., 2010. Carbon in trees in Tasmanian State Forest. International Journal of Forestry Research 2010 (article 690462).
- Moroni, M.T., Kelley, T.H., McLarin, M.L., Read, S.M., 2012. The wood, the trees, or the forest? Carbon in trees in Tasmanian State Forest: a response to comments. International Journal of Forestry Research 2012 (article 848502).
- Mount, A.B., 1979. Natural regeneration processes in Tasmanian forests. Search 10.
- Munro, N.T., Lindenmayer, D.B., Fischer, J., 2007. Faunal response to revegetation in agricultural areas of Australia: a review. Ecol. Manage. Restor. 8, 199–207.
- Munro, N.T., Fischer, J., Wood, J., Lindenmayer, D.B., 2009. Revegetation in agricultural areas: the development of structural complexity and floristic diversity. Ecol. Appl. 19, 1197–1210.
- Munro, N.T., Fischer, J., Barrett, G., Wood, J., Leavesley, A., Lindenmayer, D.B., 2011. Bird's response to revegetation of different structure and floristics– are "restoration plantings" restoring bird communities? Restor. Ecol. 19, 223– 235.
- Murphy, B.P., Russell-Smith, J., Watt, F.A., Cook, G.D., 2009. Fire management and woody biomass carbon stocks in mesic savannas. In: Russell-Smith, J., Whitehead, P.J., Cooke, P.M. (Eds.), Culture, Ecology and Economy of Fire Management in North Australian Savannas: Rekindling the Wurrk Tradition. CSIRO Publishing, Collingwood, Victoria, pp. 361–378.
- Naiman, R.J., Decamps, H., 1997. The ecology of interfaces: riparian zones. Annu. Rev. Ecol. Syst. 28, 621–658.
- Northwest Carbon Pty Ltd., 2011. Management of Large Feral Herbivores (Camels) in the Australian Rangelands. Department of Climate Change and Energy Efficiency, Domestic Offsets Integrity Committee, Canberra, Australia. <htp:// www.climatechange.gov.au/en/government/initiatives/carbon-farminginitiative/methodology-development/methodologies-under-consideration/ management-of-feral-herbivores.aspx>.
- Page, K.J., Carden, Y.R., 1998. Channel adjustment following the crossing of a threshold: Tarcutta Creek, Southeastern Australia. Aust. Geogr. Stud. 36, 289– 311.
- Pardon, L.G., Brook, B.W., Griffiths, A.D., Braithwaite, R.W., 2003. Determinants of survival for the northern brown bandicoot under a landscape-scale fire experiment. J. Anim. Ecol. 72, 106–115.
- Parr, C.L., Andersen, A.N., 2006. Patch mosaic burning for biodiversity conservation: a critique of the pyrodiversity paradigm. Conserv. Biol. 20, 1610–1619.

- Perrings, C., Duraiappah, A., Larigauderie, A., Mooney, H., 2011. The biodiversity and ecosystem services science-policy interface. Science 331, 1139–1140.
- Phelps, J., Webb, E.L., Agrawal, A., 2010. Does REDD+ threaten to recentralize forest governance? Science 328, 312–313.
- Polglase, P., Reeson, A., Hawkins, C., Paul, K., Siggins, A., Turner, J., Crawford, D., Jovanovic, T., Hobbs, T., Opie, K., Carwardine, J., Almeida, A., 2011. Opportunities for Carbon Forestry in Australia: Economic Assessment and Constraints to Implementation. CSIRO, Canberra. http://www.csiro.au/Organisation-Structure/Divisions/Ecosystem-Sciences/Opportunities-Carbon-Forestry.aspx.
- Pople, A.R., McLeod, S.R., 2010. Demography of feral camels in central Australia and its relevance to population control. Rangel. J. 32, 11–19.
- Preece, N.D., Crowley, G.M., Lawes, M.J., van Oosterzee, P., 2012. Comparing aboveground biomass among forest types in the Wet Tropics: small stems and plantation types matter in carbon accounting. For. Ecol. Manage. 264, 228–237.
- Price, O.F., Russell-Smith, J., Watt, F., 2012. The influence of prescribed fire on the extent of wildfire in savanna landscapes of western Arnhem Land. Int. J. Wildl. Fire 21, 297–305.
- Pringle, M.J., Allen, D.E., Dalal, R.C., Payne, J.E., Mayer, D.G., O'Reagain, P., Marchant, B.P., 2011. Soil carbon stock in the tropical rangelands of Australia: effects of soil type and grazing pressure, and determination of sampling requirement. Geoderma 167–168, 261–273.
- Queensland Government, 2012. Deer (Feral). Department of Agriculture, Fisheries and Forestry, Brisbande.
- Radford, B.J., Thornton, C.M., 2011. Effects of 27 years of reduced tillage practices on soil properties and crop performance in the semi-arid subtropics of Australia. Int. J. Energy Environ. Econ. 19, 565–588.
- Raupach, M.R., Kirby, J.M., Barrett, D., Briggs, P.R., 2001. Balances of Water, Carbon, Nitrogen and Phosphorus in Australian Landscapes: (1) Project Description and Results. Technical Report 40/01, CSIRO Land and Water, Canberra.
- Reddiex, B., Forsyth, D.M., McDonald-Madden, E., Einoder, L.D., Griffioen, P.A., Chick, R.R., Robley, A.J., 2006. Control of pest mammals for biodiversity protection in Australia. I. Patterns of control and monitoring. Wildl. Res. 33, 691–709.
- Reid, A.M., Hochuli, D.F., 2007. Grassland invertebrate assemblages in managed landscapes: effect of host plant and microhabitat architecture. Austral. Ecol. 32, 708–718.
- Roxburgh, S.H., Barrett, D.J., Berry, S.L., Carter, J.O., Davies, I.D., Gifford, R.M., Kirschbaum, M.U.F., McBeth, B.P., Noble, I.R., Parton, W.G., Raupach, M.R., Roderick, M.L., 2004. A critical overview of model estimates of net primary productivity for the Australian continent. Funct. Plant Biol. 31, 1043–1059.
- Russell, B.G., Letnic, M., Fleming, P.J.S., 2011. Managing feral goat impacts by manipulating their access to water in the rangelands. Rangel. J. 33, 143–152.
- Russell-Smith, J., Bowman, D.M.J.S., 1992. Conservation of monsoon rainforest isolates in the Northern Territory, Australia. J. Veg. Sci. 7, 889–900.
- Russell-Smith, J., Ryan, P.G., Cheal, D.C., 2002. Fire regimes and the conservation of sandstone heath in monsoonal northern Australia: frequency, interval, patchiness. Biol. Conserv. 104, 91–106.
- Russell-Smith, J., Yates, C.P., Whitehead, P.J., Smith, R., Craig, R., 2007. Bushfires 'down under': patterns and implications of contemporary Australian landscape burning. Int. J. Wildl. Fire 16, 361–377.
- Russell-Smith, J., Murphy, B.P., Meyer, C.P., Cook, G.D., Maier, S., Edwards, A.C., Schatz, J., Brocklehurst, P., 2009. Improving estimates of savanna burning emissions for greenhouse accounting in northern Australia: limitations, challenges, applications. Int. J. Wildl. Fire 18, 1–18.
- Saalfeld, W.K., Edwards, G.P., 2008. Ecology of feral camels in Australia. In: Edwards, G.P., Zeng, B., Saalfeld, W.K., Vaarzon-Morel, P., McGregor, M. (Eds.), Managing the Impacts of Feral Camels in Australia: A New Way of Doing Business. DKCRC Report 47. Desert Knowledge Cooperative Research Centre, Alice Springs, Australia, pp. 9–34.
- Sanderman, J., Farquharson, R., Baldock, J., 2010. Soil Carbon Sequestration Potential: A Review for Australian Agriculture. A Report Prepared for Department of Climate Change and Energy Efficiency, Commonwealth Scientific and Industrial Research Organisation, Urrbrae, South Australia. <http://www.csiro.au/Portals/Publications/Research-Reports/Soil-Carbon-Sequestration-Potential-Report.asp>.
- Sanjari, G., Ghadiri, H., Ciesiolka, C.A.A., Yu, B., 2008. Comparing the effects of continuous and time-controlled grazing systems on soil characteristics in Southeast Queensland. Soil Res. 46, 348–358.
- Seddon, J., Doyle, S., Bourne, M., Maccallum, R., Briggs, S., 2009. Biodiversity benefits of alley farming with old man saltbush in central western New South Wales. Anim. Prod. Sci. 49, 860–868.
- Selwood, K., Mac Nally, R., Thomson, J., 2009. Native bird breeding in a chronosequence of revegetated sites. Oecologia 159, 435–446.
- Sizer, N., Tanner, E.V.J., 1999. Responses of woody plant seedlings to edge formation in a lowland tropical rainforest, Amazonia. Biol. Conserv. 91, 135–142.
- Slijepcevic, A., 2001. Loss of carbon during controlled regeneration burns in *Eucalyptus obliqua* forest. Tasforests 13, 282–290.
- Smyth, A., Friedel, M., O'Malley, C., 2009. The influence of buffel grass (*Cenchrus ciliaris*) on biodiversity in an arid Australian landscape. Rangel. J. 31, 307–320.
- Sochacki, S.J., Harper, R.J., Smettem, K.R.J., 2012. Bio-mitigation of carbon following afforestation of abandoned salinized farmland. GCB Bioenergy 4, 193–201.
- Sohi, S.P., Krull, E., Lopez-Capel, E., Bol, R., 2010. A review of biochar and its use and function in soil. In: Donald, L.S. (Ed.), Advances in Agronomy. Academic Press, pp. 47–82.
- Sparkes, J., Stoutjesdijk, P., 2011. Biochar: Implications for Agricultural Productivity, ABARES Technical Report 11.6. Australian Bureau of Agricultural and Resource

Economics and Sciences, Canberra. http://adl.brs.gov.au/data/warehouse/biochar9abcm001/JTR.2011.06_Biochar_v1.0.0.pdf>

- Stoate, C., Báldi, A., Beja, P., Boatman, N.D., Herzon, I., van Doorn, A., de Snoo, G.R., Rakosy, L., Ramwell, C., 2009. Ecological impacts of early 21st century agricultural change in Europe – a review. J. Environ. Manage. 91, 22–46.
- Struhsaker, T.T., Kasenene, J.M., Gaither Jr., J.C., Larsen, N., Musango, S., Bancroft, R., 1989. Tree mortality in the Kibale Forest, Uganda: a case study of dieback in a tropical rain forest adjacent to exotic conifer plantations. For. Ecol. Manage. 29, 165–185.
- Thackway, R., 2012. Tracking the Transformation of Vegetated Landscapes. Handbook for Recording Site-based Effects of Land Use and Land Management Practices on the Condition of Native Plant Communities. Version 2.3, Westerlund Eco Services, Rockingham, Western Australia. http:// www.vasttransformations.com/>.
- Thackway, R., Lesslie, R., 2008. Describing and mapping human-induced vegetation change in the Australian landscape. Environ. Manage. 42, 572–590.
- Thackway, R., Olsson, K., 1999. Public/private partnerships and protected areas: selected Australian case studies. J. Landsc. Urban Plann. 44, 87–89.
- The Economics of Ecosystems and Biodiversity, 2010. The Economics of Ecosystems and Biodiversity: Mainstreaming the Economics of Nature: A Synthesis of the Approach, Conclusions and Recommendations of TEEB. United Nations Environment Programme, Geneva. http://www.teebweb.org/teeb-study-and-reports/synthesis-reports/s
- Thomas, D.T., Sanderman, J., Eady, S.J., Masters, D.G., Sanford, P., 2012. Whole farm net greenhouse gas abatement from establishing kikuyu-based perennial pastures in south-western Australia. Animals 2, 316–330.
- Thomson, J.R., Bond, N.R., Cunningham, S.C., Metzeling, L., Reich, P., Thompson, R.M., Mac Nally, R., 2012. The influences of climatic variation and vegetation on stream biota: lessons from the Big Dry in southeastern Australia. Glob. Change Biol. 18, 1582–1596.
- Trauernicht, C., Murphy, B.P., Portner, T.E., Bowman, D.M.J.S., 2012. Tree cover–fire interactions promote the persistence of a fire-sensitive conifer in a highly flammable savanna. J. Ecol. 100, 958–968.
- van der Werf, G.R., Morton, D.C., DeFries, R.S., Olivier, J.G.J., Kasibhatla, P.S., Jackson, R.B., Collatz, G.J., Randerson, J.T., 2009. CO₂ emissions from forest loss. Nat. Geosci. 2, 737–738.
- van Oosterzee, P., 2012. The integration of biodiversity and climate change: a contextual assessment of the carbon farming initiative. Ecol. Manage. Restor. 13, 238–244.
- van Oosterzee, P., Blignaut, J., Bradshaw, C.J.A., 2012. IREDD hedges against avoided deforestation's unholy trinity of leakage, permanence and additionality. Conserv. Lett. 5, 266–273.
- Venter, O., Laurance, W.F., Iwamura, T., Wilson, K.A., Fuller, R.A., Possingham, H.P., 2009. Harnessing carbon payments to protect biodiversity. Science 326, 1368.
- Venter, O., Watson, J.E.M., Meijaard, E., Laurance, W.F., Possingham, H.P., 2010. Avoiding unintended outcomes from REDD. Conserv. Biol. 24, 5–6.
- Vercoe, P.E., Durmic, Z., Revell, D.K., 2009. Rumen microbial ecology: helping to change landscapes. Options Méditerran. 85, 225–236.
- Vertessy, R.A., Zhang, L., Dawes, W., 2003. Plantations, river flows and river salinity. Aust. Forest. 66, 55-61.
- Vesk, P.A., Nolan, R., Thomson, J.R., Dorrough, J.W., Nally, R.M., 2008. Time lags in provision of habitat resources through revegetation. Biol. Conserv. 141, 174–186.

- Wang, W., Dalal, R.C., Reeves, S.H., Butterbach-Bahl, K., Kiese, R., 2011. Greenhouse gas fluxes from an Australian subtropical cropland under long-term contrasting management regimes. Glob. Change Biol. 17, 3089–3101.
- Watling, J.I., Nowakowski, A.J., Donnelly, M.A., Orrock, J.L., 2011. Meta-analysis reveals the importance of matrix composition for animals in fragmented habitat. Glob. Ecol. Biogeogr. 20, 209–217.
- Wentworth Group of Concerned Scientists, 2008. Proposal for a National Carbon Bank. Submission to the Joint Standing Committee on Treaties, Sydney, Australia. <www.wentworthgroup.org/uploads/Optimising_Terrestial_Carbon.pdf>.
- Wentworth Group of Concerned Scientists, 2009. Optimising Carbon in the Australian Landscape, Sydney, Australia. <www.wentworthgroup.org/uploads/ Optimising_Terrestial_Carbon.pdf>.
- Williams, R.J., Bradstock, R.A., Barrett, D., Beringer, J., Boer, M.M., Cary, G.J., Cook, G.D., Gill, A.M., Hutley, L.B., Keith, H., Maier, S., Meyer, C.P., Price, O.F., Roxburgh, S., Russell-Smith, J., 2012. Fire regimes, vegetation change and carbon dynamics. In: Bradstock, R.A., Williams, R.J., Gill, A.M. (Eds.), Flammable Australia: Biodiversity and Ecosystems in a Changing World. CSIRO Publishing, Collingwood, Victoria, pp. 273–292.
- Wilson, G.R., Edwards, M.J., 2008. Native wildlife on rangelands to minimize methane and produce lower-emission meat: kangaroos versus livestock. Conserv. Lett. 1, 119–128.
- Witt, G.B., Noël, M.V., Bird, M.I., Beeton, R.J.S., 2009. Investigating Long-term Grazing Exclosures for the Assessment of Carbon Sequestration and Biodiversity Restoration Potential of the Mulga Lands. Report to the Department of the Environment, Water, Heritage and the Arts, School of Integrative Systems, The University of Queensland, Brisbane, Australia. >.
- Witt, G.B., Noël, M.V., Bird, M.I., Beeton, R.J.S., Menzies, N.W., 2011. Carbon sequestration and biodiversity restoration potential of semi-arid mulga lands of Australia interpreted from long-term grazing exclosures. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 141, 108–118.
- Woinarski, J.C.Z., Rankmore, B., Hill, B., Griffiths, A.D., Stewart, A., Grace, B., 2009. Fauna assemblages in regrowth vegetation in tropical open forests of the Northern Territory, Australia. Wildl. Res. 36, 675–690.
- Woinarski, J.C.Z., Armstrong, M., Brennan, K., Fisher, A., Griffiths, A.D., Hill, B., Milne, D.J., Palmer, C., Ward, S., Watson, M., Winderlich, S., Young, S., 2010. Monitoring indicates rapid and severe decline of native small mammals in Kakadu National Park, northern Australia. Wildl. Res. 37, 116–126.
- Woinarski, J.C.Z., Legge, S., Fitzsimons, J.A., Traill, B.J., Burbidge, A.A., Fisher, A., Firth, R.S.C., Gordon, I.J., Griffiths, A.D., Johnson, C.N., McKenzie, N.L., Palmer, C., Radford, I., Rankmore, B., Ritchie, E.G., Ward, S., Ziembicki, M., 2011. The disappearing mammal fauna of northern Australia: context, cause, and response. Conserv. Lett. 4, 192–201.
- Ximenes, F.d.A., George, B.H., Cowie, A., Williams, J., Kelly, G., 2012. Greenhouse gas balance of native forests in New South Wales, Australia. Forests 3, 653–683.
- Zhang, L., Dawes, W.R., Walker, G.R., 2001. Response of mean annual evapotranspiration to vegetation changes at catchment scale. Water Resour. Res. 37, 701–708.
- Zhang, L., Vertessy, R., Walker, G., Gilfedder, M., Hairsine, P., 2007. Afforestation in a Catchment Context: Understanding the Impacts on Water Yield and Salinity, eWater Cooperative Research Centre, Melbourne, Australia. http:// nrmonline.nrm.gov.au/catalog/mql:45.